

# **BOOK OF ABSTRACTS**

European Symposium on Computational

Intelligence and Mathematics

October 3<sup>rd</sup> – 6<sup>th</sup>, 2021 • Budapest, Hungary

Editors: László T. Kóczy, Jesús Medina

Associate Editors:

Roberto G. Aragón, Fernando Chacón-Gómez, Janusz Kacprzyk, M. Eugenia Cornejo-Piñero, David Lobo, Eloísa Ramírez-Poussa

#### Book of abstracts of ESCIM 2021

© László T. Kóczy, Jesús Medina, Editors Roberto G. Aragón, Fernando Chacón-Gómez, María Eugenia Cornejo, Janusz Kacprzyk, David Lobo, Eloísa Ramírez-Poussa, Associate Editors

Edition 1<sup>st</sup> First published: 2021

ISBN: 978-84-09-35749-9 Published and printed by: Universidad de Cádiz (Dept. Matemáticas), Spain.

#### **Table of Contents**

<b>Keynote:</b> On fuzzy natural logic and its applications	1
Decidability of real-valued S4 Gödel logic Martín Diéguez and David Fernández-Duque	2
Basic logic versus multi-adjoint logic María Eugenia Cornejo, Luis Fariñas del Cerro and Jesús Medina	4
Fuzzy logic programming with generalized quantifiers Jesús Medina and José Antonio Torné-Zambrano	6
Fuzzy relations: the fundament for fuzzy rough approximation, fuzzy concept analysis and fuzzy mathematical morphology	8
Information bireducts and its relationship with reducts Fernando Chacón-Gómez, María Eugenia Cornejo, Jesús Medina and Eloísa Ramírez-Poussa	10
Keynote: Adjoint algebras. Theory and applications María Eugenia Cornejo	12
On the applicability of fuzzy lines in circular Hough transform in lesion segmentation on liver CT images	13
Directional properties of semi-aggregation functions Andrea Stupňanová	15
Generalized Phi-Transform of Aggregation Functions on Bounded Lattices $Martin\ Kalina$	16
Sugeno Integral for Atanassov Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets Ondrej Krídlo and Manuel Ojeda-Aciego	18
Keynote: Outliers-based aggregation	19
Facilitating the simulation of domestic energy systems through linguistic representations Luis Rodríguez-Benítez, Pablo Palomino-Gamoez, Luis Jiménez-Linares, Juan Moreno-García and Jun Liu	20
Experiments with the Discrete Bacterial Memetic Evolutionary Algorithm for solving the Cumulative Capacitated Vehicle Routing Problem Boldizsár Tüű-Szabó, Péter Földesi and László T. Kóczy	22

Fuzzy Inference System-like Aggregation Operator (FISAO) for Fuzzy Signatures Ferenc Lilik, Ádám Bukovics and László T. Kóczy	24
Looking for fuzzy extensions of closure operators Manuel Ojeda-Hernández, Inma P. Cabrera, Pablo Cordero and Emilio Muñoz-Velasco	26
Context of a local congruence concept reduction Roberto G. Aragón, Jesús Medina and Eloísa Ramírez-Poussa	28
One-sided concept lattices by blocks María José Benítez-Caballero and Jesús Medina	30
Discrete universal fuzzy integrals Anna Kolesárová and Radko Mesiar	32
Energy determined membership function of viscoelastic models Mária Minárová	34
Keynote: Data-Driven Fuzzy Modeling Inspired by Manifolds	35
Advances in forgery detection of driving licences using truthfulness degrees Manuel Ojeda-Aciego and José Manuel Rodríguez-Jiménez	36
A formal method for driver identification Roberto G. Aragón, María Eugenia Cornejo, Jesús Medina and Clemente Rubio-Manzano	37
Analysis and identification of forensic events using non-parametric density estimation Piotr A. Kowalski, Karol Kocierz and Maciej Kusy	39
Fuzzy signature based model in material handling management Balázs Ferenczi, Ferenc Lilik and László T. Kóczy	41
On Choquet integral in ranking crimes María Eugenia Cornejo, Jesús Medina, Ivana Štajner-Papuga and Andreja Tepavčević	43
The Effects of Knowledge Extraction Approaches on Cryptanalysis Studies and Analysis of the Success of Chaos-Based Countermeasures Yücel Bürhan and Fatih Özkaynak	44

#### **Program Committee**

Alexander Šostaks

Pedro Cabalar Univ. A Coruña. Spain João Paulo Carvalho University of Lisbon. Portugal Oscar Castillo Tijuana Institute of Technology. México Agata Ciabattoni TU Wien. Austria Davide Ciucci University of Milano-Bicocca. Italy M. Eugenia Cornejo University of Cádiz, Spain Chris Cornelis University of Gante. Belgium Bernard De Baets University of Gante. Belgium Juan Carlos Díaz-Moreno University of Cádiz. Spain Christian G. Fermüller TU Wien. Austria Péter Földesi Univ. Széchenyi István. Hungary Robert Fullér Obuda University, Hungary Lluís Godo Artificial Intelligence Research Institute, IIIA-CSIC. Spain Univ. Széchenyi István. Hungary István Harmati Stanislav Krajči UPJS Košice. Slovakia Ondrej Krídlo UPJS Košice. Slovakia Nicolás Madrid University of Málaga. Spain University of Castilla La Mancha. Spain Juan Moreno García Szilvia Nagy Univ. Széchenyi István. Hungary University of Málaga. Spain Manuel Ojeda-Aciego Irina Perfilieva Centre of Excellence IT4Innovations. Univ. Ostrava. Czech Republic Jozef Pócs Slovak Academy of Sciences. Slovakia Claudiu Pozna Transilvania University of Brasov. Romania Radu-Emil Precup Politehnica University of Timisoara. Rumania Eloísa Ramírez-Poussa University of Cádiz. Spain Andreja Tepavčević University of Novi Sad. Serbia Esko Turunen Tampere University of Technology. Finland

University of Latvia. Latvia

# Program of the

# 13<sup>th</sup> European Symposium on Computational Intelligence and Mathematics October 3<sup>rd</sup> - 6<sup>th</sup> 2021. Budapest, Hungary

MONDAY 4 <sup>th</sup> Location: Mercure Budapest Castle Hill		
8:30	Open Registration Desk	
9:30-10:00	Inauguration	
10:00-11:00	<b>Keynote Speaker - Vilém Novák</b> Title: On fuzzy natural logic and its applications Chairperson: Jesús Medina Venue: Mercure Budapest Castle Hill	
11:00-11:20	Coffee break	
11:20-12:30	Session S1. Chairperson: Vilém Novák Venue: Mercure Budapest Castle Hill	
	Decidability of real-valued S4 Gödel logic Martín Diéguez and David Fernández-Duque	
	<i>Basic logic versus multi-adjoint logic</i> María Eugenia Cornejo, Luis Fariñas del Cerro and Jesús Medina	
	Fuzzy logic programming with generalized quantifiers Jesús Medina and José Antonio Torné-Zambrano	
12:30-13:30	Session S2. Chairperson: Jesús Medina Venue: Mercure Budapest Castle Hill	
	Fuzzy relations: the fundament for fuzzy rough approximation, fuzzy concept analysis and fuzzy mathematical morphology Alexander Šostak and Ingrīda Uļjane	
	Information bireducts and its relationship with reducts Fernando Chacón-Gómez, María Eugenia Cornejo, Jesús Medina and Eloísa Ramírez- Poussa	
13:30-14:40	Lunch	

14:40-15:40	<b>Keynote Speaker - María Eugenia Cornejo</b> Title: Adjoint algebras. Theory and applications. Chairperson: László T. Kóczy Venue: Mercure Budapest Castle Hill
15:40 - 16:00	Coffee break
16:00-17:30	Session S3. Chairperson: María Eugenia Cornejo
	Venue: Mercure Budapest Castle Hill
	On the applicability of fuzzy lines in circular Hough transform in lesion segmentation on liver CT images Melinda Kovács and Szilvia Nagy Directional properties of semi-aggregation functions
	Andrea Stupňanová
	Generalized Phi-Transform of Aggregation Functions on Bounded Lattices Martin Kalina
	Sugeno Integral for Atanassov Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets Ondrej Krídlo and Manuel Ojeda-Aciego
19:00	Welcome reception

TUESDAY 5 <sup>th</sup> Location: Mercure Budapest Castle Hill	
9:00–9:50	Keynote Speaker - Radko Mesiar Title: Outliers-based aggregation Chairperson: Jesús Medina Venue: Mercure Budapest Castle Hill
9:50-11:00	Session S4. Chairperson: Radko Mesiar Venue: Mercure Budapest Castle Hill
	Facilitating the simulation of domestic energy systems through linguistic representations Luis Rodríguez-Benítez, Pablo Palomino-Gamoez, Luis Jiménez-Linares, Juan Moreno García and Jun Liu
	Experiments with the Discrete Bacterial Memetic Evolutionary Algorithm for solving the Cumulative Capacitated Vehicle Routing Problem Boldizsár Tüű-Szabó, Péter Földesi and László T. Kóczy
	Fuzzy Inference System-like Aggregation Operator (FISAO) for Fuzzy Signatures Ferenc Lilik, Ádám Bukovics and László T. Kóczy
11:00-11:30	Coffee break

11:30-13:30	Session S5. Chairperson: László T. Kóczy
	Venue: Mercure Budapest Castle Hill
	Looking for fuzzy extensions of closure operators Manuel Ojeda-Hernández, Inma P. Cabrera, Pablo Cordero and Emilio Muñoz-Velasco
	Context of a local congruence concept reduction Roberto G. Aragón, Jesús Medina and Eloísa Ramírez-Poussa
	One-sided concept lattices by blocks María José Benítez-Caballero and Jesús Medina
	Discrete universal fuzzy integrals Anna Kolesárová and Radko Mesiar
	Energy determined membership function of viscoelastic models Mária Minárová
13:30-15:00	Lunch
16:30-19:30	Budapest tour
19:30	Gala dinner

WEDNESDAY 6 <sup>th</sup> Location: Mercure Budapest Castle Hill	
10:00-11:00	<b>Keynote Speaker - Irina Perfilieva</b> Title: Data-Driven Fuzzy Modeling Inspired by Manifolds Chairperson: László T. Kóczy Venue: Mercure Budapest Castle Hill
11:00-11:20	Coffee break
11:20-13:30	Session S6. Chairperson: Irina Perfilieva Venue: Mercure Budapest Castle Hill
	Advances in forgery detection of driving licences using truthfulness degrees Manuel Ojeda-Aciego and José Manuel Rodríguez-Jiménez
	A formal method for driver identification Roberto G. Aragón, María Eugenia Cornejo, Jesús Medina and Clemente Rubio-Manzano
	Analysis and identification of forensic events using non-parametric density estimation Piotr A. Kowalski, Karol Kocierz and Maciej Kusy
	Fuzzy signature based model in material handling management Balázs Ferenczi, Ferenc Lilik and László T. Kóczy
	<i>On Choquet integral in ranking crimes</i> María Eugenia Cornejo, Jesús Medina, Ivana Štajner-Papuga and Andreja Tepavčević
	The Effects of Knowledge Extraction Approaches on Cryptanalysis Studies and Analysis of the Success of Chaos-Based Countermeasures Yücel Bürhan and Fatih Özkaynak
13:30-15:00	Closing Session

#### Keynote speech:

### On fuzzy natural logic and its applications

#### Vilém Novák

Institute for Research and Applications of Fuzzy Modeling NSC IT4Innovations, University of Ostrava, Czech Republic



**Abstract:** L. A. Zadeh, the founder of the fuzzy set theory, demonstrated in many of his papers that his approach makes it possible to develop a unique mathematical model of the semantics of some expressions of natural language and to apply it in solution of various practical problems. Recall one of the most successful applications — the fuzzy control in which control is realized by transforming operators (i.e., expert) knowledge formulated in natural language into an algorithm.

The fundamental role in these applications is played by expressions of natural language such as «small, very weak, medium, extremely large, significantly expensive» etc. Recall that they form a special class of linguistic expressions called *evaluative linguistic expressions*. In this talk, we will place them into a wider program of the so-called *Fuzzy Natural Logic* (FNL). Its goal is to develop a mathematical model of human reasoning whose typical feature is the use of natural language. Among results of FNL, besides the theory of evaluative expressions, belongs also sophisticated theory of intermediate (linguistic) quantifiers, or a special inference method called *Perception-based Logic Deduction* (PbLD), which provides the algorithm that behaves as if "understanding" linguistic expressions.

Besides the above theory, we also mention applications of FNL in control, multiple-criteria decision-making, forecasting, and mining information from time series.

## Decidability of real-valued S4 Gödel logic

#### Martín Diéguez<sup>1</sup> and David Fernández-Duque<sup>2</sup>

- University of Angers, Angers, France.
- e-mail: martin.dieguezlodeiro@univ-angers.fr
- <sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, Ghent University, Belgium. e-mail: David.FernandezDuque@UGent.be

**Abstract:** We introduce semantics for crisp and fuzzy Gödel S4 based on birelational frames. We then show that each version of the logic is sound and complete for its respective class of frames and enjoys the finite model property. From this we conclude that both the crisp and fuzzy versions of Gödel S4 are decidable.

Keywords: Gödel Logic · Completeness · Fuzzy Logic · Modal Logic

- Alechina, N., Mendler, M., de Paiva, V., Ritter, E.: Categorical and Kripke semantics for constructive S4 modal logic. In: Fribourg, L. (ed.) 15th International Workshop on Computer Science Logic (CSL). Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol. 2142, pp. 292–307. Springer (2001)
- Balbiani, P., Diéguez, M., Fernández-Duque, D.: Some constructive variants of S4 with the finite model property. In: 36th Annual ACM/IEEE Symposium on Logic in Computer Science, (LICS). pp. 1–13. IEEE (2021)
- 3. van Benthem, J.: Modal Logic for Open Minds. CSLI lecture notes, Center for the Study of Language and Information (2010)
- 4. Caicedo, X., Rodríguez, R.: Standard Gödel modal logics. Studia Logica **94**, 189–214 (2010)
- Caicedo, X., Metcalfe, G., Rodríguez, R.O., Rogger, J.: A finite model property for Gödel modal logics. In: Libkin, L., Kohlenbach, U., de Queiroz, R.J.G.B. (eds.) 20th International Workshop on Logic, Language, Information, and Computation (WoL-LIC 2013). Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol. 8071, pp. 226-237. Springer (2013)
- Caicedo, X., Rodríguez, R.O.: Bi-modal Gödel logic over [0, 1]-valued kripke frames. Journal of Logic and Computation 25(1), 37–55 (2015)
- Fischer Servi, G.: Axiomatizations for some intuitionistic modal logics. In: Rendiconti del Seminario Matematico, vol. 42, pp. 179–194. Universitie Politecnico Torino (1984)
- Fischer Servi, G.: On modal logic with an intuitionistic base. Studia Logica 36(3), 141–149 (1977)
- Gödel, K.: Zum intuitionistischen aussagenkalkül. Anzeiger der Akademie der Wissenschaften in Wien 69, 65–66 (1932)
- Hájek, P.: Generalized Quantifiers and Modalities, pp. 195–248. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht (1998)
- Heyting, A.: Die formalen Regeln der intuitionistischen Logik. In: Sitzungsberichte der Preussischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, p. 42–56. Deutsche Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Berlin (1930), reprint in Logik-Texte: Kommentierte Auswahl zur Geschichte der Modernen Logik, Akademie-Verlag, 1986.

- 12. Ladner, R.E.: The computational complexity of provability in systems of modal propositional logic. SIAM Journal on Computing 6(3), 467-480 (1977)
- Metcalfe, G., Olivetti, N.: Proof systems for a Gödel modal logic. In: Giese, M., Waaler, A. (eds.) 18th International Conference on Automated Reasoning with Analytic Tableaux and Related Methods (TABLEAUX). Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol. 5607, pp. 265-279. Springer (2009)
- 14. Metcalfe, G., Olivetti, N.: Towards a proof theory of Gödel modal logics. Logical Methods in Computer Science 7(2) (2011)
- Rodríguez, R.O., Vidal, A.: Axiomatization of crisp Gödel modal logic. Stud Logica 109(2), 367–395 (2021)
- 16. Simpson, A.K.: The proof theory and semantics of intuitionistic modal logic. Ph.D. thesis, University of Edinburgh, UK (1994)

### Basic logic versus multi-adjoint logic

# María Eugenia Cornejo<sup>1</sup>, Luis Fariñas del Cerro<sup>2</sup> and Jesús Medina<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics, University of Cádiz, Cádiz, Spain. e-mail: {mariaeugenia.cornejo, jesus.medina}@uca.es

**Abstract:** This paper presents a comparative study between the well-known basic logic (BL) introduced by Petr Hájek and the multi-adjoint logic (ML), which arose for responding the need to introduce an axiomatization associated with multi-adjoint algebras.

**Keywords:** Bounded poset  $\cdot$  BL-algebra  $\cdot$  multi-adjoint algebra  $\cdot$  propositional logic  $\cdot$  fuzzy logic

Acknowledgement: Partially supported by the 2014–2020 ERDF Operational Programme in collaboration with the State Research Agency (AEI) in project PID2019-108991GB-I00, and with the Department of Economy, Knowledge, Business and University of the Regional Government of Andalusia in project FEDER-UCA18-108612, and by the European Cooperation in Science & Technology (COST) Action CA17124.

- M. Baaz. Infinite-valued Gödel logics with 0-1-projections and relativizations. In P. Hájek, editor, Proc. Gödel'96, Logic Foundations of Mathematics, Computer Science and Physics - Kurt Gödel's Legacy, Lecture Notes in Logic 6, pages 23-33, Brno, Czech Republic, 1996. Springer.
- R. Cignoli, F. Esteva, L. Godo, and A. Torrens. Basic fuzzy logic is the logic of continuous t-norms and their residua. Soft Computing, 4:106-112, 2000.
- P. Cintula, R. Horcik, and C. Noguera. Nonassociative substructural logics and their semilinear extensions: axiomatization and completeness properties. *The Review of* Symbolic Logic, 6(3):394-423, 2013.
- M. E. Cornejo, L. Fariñas del Cerro, and J. Medina. A logical characterization of multi-adjoint algebras. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 2021.
- 5. M. E. Cornejo and J. Medina. Impact zadeh's theory to algebraic structures. multiadjoint algebras. *Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics*, 12:126-141, 2021.
- M. E. Cornejo, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. A comparative study of adjoint triples. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 211:1-14, 2013.
- M. E. Cornejo, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Multi-adjoint algebras versus non-commutative residuated structures. *International Journal of Approximate Rea*soning, 66:119-138, 2015.
- 8. M. E. Cornejo, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Algebraic structure and characterization of adjoint triples. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 2021.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> University of Paul Sabatier, Toulouse, CNRS. France. e-mail: luis.farinas@irit.fr

- F. Esteva and L. Godo. Monoidal t-norm based logic: towards a logic for leftcontinuous t-norms. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 124:271-288, 2001.
- F. Esteva, L. Godo, and Angel García-Cerdaña. On the Hierarchy of T-Norm Based Residuated Fuzzy Logics, pages 251-272. Physica-Verlag GmbH, DEU, 2003.
- 11. F. Esteva, L. Godo, and C. Noguera. A logical approach to fuzzy truth hedges. Information Sciences, 232:366 - 385, 2013.
- 12. N. Galatos, P. Jipsen, T. Kowalski, and H. Ono. Residuated Lattices: an algebraic glimpse at substructural logics. 2007.
- L. Godo, S.-R. M., and F. Esteva. On the logic of left-continuous t-norms and right-continuous t-conorms. Communications in Computer and Information Science, 1239:654-665, 2020.
- 14. P. Hájek. *Metamathematics of Fuzzy Logic*. Trends in Logic. Kluwer Academic, 1998.
- 15. P. Hájek. On very true. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 124(3):329 333, 2001. Fuzzy Logic.
- E. Mendelson. Introduction to Mathematical logic. Chapman & Hall/CRC, sixth edition, 2015.
- V. Vychodil. Truth-depressing hedges and bl-logic. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 157(15):2074 - 2090, 2006.

# Fuzzy logic programming with generalized quantifiers

#### Jesús Medina and José Antonio Torné-Zambrano

Department of Mathematics, University of Cádiz, Cádiz, Spain. e-mail: {joseantonio.torne, jesus.medina}@uca.es

**Abstract:** This paper introduces a new definition of the immediate consequence operator considered in many fuzzy logic programming frameworks, focused on weakening the universal feature of the supremum operator. This new definition has been possible taking advantage of the notion of generalized quantifiers, which provides weaker quantifiers than the universal one.

**Keywords:** Logic programming immediate consequence operator generalized quantifiers

Acknowledgement: Partially supported by the 2014-2020 ERDF Operational Programme in collaboration with the State Research Agency (AEI) in projects TIN2016-76653-P and PID2019-108991GB-I00, and with the Department of Economy, Knowledge, Business and University of the Regional Government of Andalusia in project FEDER-UCA18-108612, and by the European Cooperation in Science & Technology (COST) Action CA17124.

- 1. N. Cao, M. Holčapek, and M. Štěpnička. Extensions of fuzzy relational compositions based on generalized quantifiers. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 339:73 – 98, 2018. Theme: Algebra and Set Theory.
- 2. N. Cao, M. Stepnicka, and M. Burda. Fuzzy quantifiers and compositions of partial fuzzy relations employing dragonfly algebras. In 2019 IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems, FUZZ-IEEE 2019, New Orleans, LA, USA, June 23-26, 2019, pages 1-6. IEEE, 2019.
- 3. M. E. Cornejo, J. Díaz-Moreno, J. López-Rodríguez, and J. Medina. Quantified concept-forming operators. CEUR Workshop Proceedings, 2668:273-280, 2020.
- 4. M. E. Cornejo, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. A comparative study of adjoint triples. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 211:1-14, 2013.
- 5. M. E. Cornejo, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Multi-adjoint algebras versus extended-order algebras. Applied Mathematics & Information Sciences, 9(2L):365-372, 2015.
- 6. M. E. Cornejo, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Multi-adjoint algebras versus non-commutative residuated structures. International Journal of Approximate Reasoning, 66:119-138, 2015.
- 7. M. E. Cornejo, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Algebraic structure and characterization of adjoint triples. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 2021.
- 8. C. V. Damásio and L. M. Pereira. Monotonic and residuated logic programs. In Symbolic and Quantitative Approaches to Reasoning with Uncertainty, ECSQARU'01, pages 748-759. Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence, 2143, 2001.

- A. Dvořák and M. Holčapek. L-fuzzy quantifiers of type (1) determined by fuzzy measures. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 160(23):3425 - 3452, 2009. Theme: Computer Science.
- P. Julián-Iranzo and C. Rubio-Manzano. A sound and complete semantics for a similarity-based logic programming language. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 317:1 – 26, 2017. Theme: Logic and Computer Science.
- 11. J. Lloyd. Foundations of Logic Programming. Springer Verlag, 1987.
- J. Medina, M. Ojeda-Aciego, and P. Vojtáš. Multi-adjoint logic programming with continuous semantics. In Logic Programming and Non-Monotonic Reasoning, LPNMR'01, pages 351-364. Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence 2173, 2001.
- J. Medina, M. Ojeda-Aciego, and P. Vojtáš. Similarity-based unification: a multiadjoint approach. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 146:43-62, 2004.
- 14. M. Štěpnička and M. Holčapek. Fuzzy relational compositions based on generalized quantifiers. In A. Laurent, O. Strauss, B. Bouchon-Meunier, and R. R. Yager, editors, *Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based* Systems, pages 224–233, Cham, 2014. Springer International Publishing.
- U. Straccia, M. Ojeda-Aciego, and C. V. Damásio. On fixed-points of multivalued functions on complete lattices and their application to generalized logic programs. *SIAM Journal on Computing*, 38(5):1881-1911, 2009.
- A. Tarski. A lattice-theoretical fixpoint theorem and its applications. Pacific J. Math., 5(2):285-309, 1955.
- M. van Emden. Quantitative deduction and its fixpoint theory. The Journal of Logic Programming, 1:37-53, 1986.
- 18. M. van Emden and R. Kowalski. The semantics of predicate logic as a programming language. Journal of the ACM, 23(4):733-742, 1976.
- 19. P. Vojtáš. Fuzzy logic programming. Fuzzy sets and systems, 124(3):361-370, 2001.

# Fuzzy relations: the fundament for fuzzy rough approximation, fuzzy concept analysis and fuzzy mathematical morphology

# Alexander Šostak<sup>1,2</sup> and Ingrīda Uļjane<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Mathematics and CS University of Latvia, Riga LV-1459, Latvia.

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics, University of Latvia, Riga LV-1084, Latvia. e-mail: aleksandrs.sostaks@lumii.lv, aleksandrs.sostaks@lu.lv
a mail: ingride uliana@lu lu ingride uliana@lumii lu

e-mail: ingrida.uljane@lu.lv, ingrida.uljane@lumii.lv

**Abstract:** We present a unified approach to the theory of forward and backward operators induced by *L*-fuzzy relation and illustrate their role in theory of generalized fuzzy rough sets, in the study of oriented fuzzy concept lattices and in fuzzy mathematical morphology.

**Keywords:** *L*-fuzzy relations · fuzzy rough approximation · fuzzy concept analysis · fuzzy mathematical morphology

Acknowledgement: The authors acknowledge partial financial support from project No. Lzp-2020/2-0311(Latvian Council of Science).

- 1. Bělohlávek, R: Concept lattices and order in fuzzy logic. Annals of Pure and Applied Logic **128** (2004), 277–298.
- 2. Birkhoff, G.: Lattice Theory, AMS Providence, RI, 1995.
- Bloch, I., Hejmans, H., Ronse, C.: Mathematical morphology, Chapter 14 in: Handbook in Space Logic, Springer, (2007) pp.857-944,
- De Baets, B, Kerre, E.E., Gupta, M.: The fundamentals of fuzzy mathematical morphology Part I: basic concepts, Int. J. Gen. Syst., 23 (1995), 155-171; Part II: Idempotence, convexity and decomposition, Int. J. Gen. Syst. 23 (1995), 307-322.
- Lai, H-L., Zhang, D.: Concept lattices of fuzzy context: Formal concept analysis vs. rough set theory. Intern. J. of Approximate Reasoning 50, (2009), 695-707.
- Dubois, D., Prade, H.: Rough fuzzy sets and fuzzy rough sets, Int. J. Gen. Syst., 17 (1990), 191-209.
- Elkins A., Šostak A., and Uljane I.: On a category of extensional fuzzy rough ~ approximation L-valued spaces, IPMU(2016) Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge Based Systems (2016), 48-60.
- Düntch, I., Gediga, G.: Approximation operators in qualitative data analysis, in: Theory and Application of Relational Structures as Knowledge Instruments, de Swart, H., Orlowska, E., Schmidt, G. and Roubens, M. (Eds.), Springer, Heidelberg, 216-233, 2003.
- Ganter B., Wille R. Formal Concept Analysis: Mathematical Foundations. Springer Verlag, Berlin, 1999.
- Madrid, N., Ojeda-Aciego, M., Medina, J., Perfilieva, I.: L-fuzzy relational mathematical morphology based on adjoint triples, Inf. Sci., 474 (2019), 75–89.
- 11. Matheron, G.: Random sets and Integral Geometry, Willy, 1975.

- Močkoř, J.: Functors among relational variants of categories related to L-fuzzy partitions, L-fuzzy pretopological spaces and l-fuzzy closure spaces, (2020), Axioms, 9(2), 63.
- Morgan, W., Dilworth, R.P.: Residuated lattices, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 45 (1939), 335-354.
- 14. Nachtegael, M., Kerre E.E.: , Classic and fuzzy approaches to mathematical morphology, Chapter 1, In: Kerre E.E. et al. (eds), Fuzzy Technique in Image Processing, Springer Verlag Berlin, Heilderberg, 2000.
- 15. Pawlak, Z.: Rough sets, Intern. J. Comp. Inform. Sciences 11 (1982), 341-356.
- Radzikowska, A.M., Kerre, E.E.: A comparative study of fuzzy rough sets, Fuzzy Sets Syst., **126** (2002), 137–155.
- Rodabaugh, S.E., Powerset operator foundations for theories and topologies, In: U. Höle, S.E. Rodabaugh eds, Mathematics of Fuzzy Sets: Logic, Topology and Measure Theory - Handbook Series, 3, Kluwer Acad. Publ., (1999), 91-117.
- Rosenthal, K.I.: Quantales and Their Applications. Pitman Research Notes in Mathematics, vol. 234. Longman Scientific & Technical, 1990.
- 19. Serra, J.: Image analysis and mathematical morphology, Academic Press, London, New York, Paris, San Diego, San Paolo, Sydney, Tokyo, Toronto, (1982) 610 p.
- Šostak, A., Uljane, I., Krastiņš, M.: Gradations of fuzzy preconcept lattices, (2021) 10(1), 41.
- Wille R.: Concept lattices and conceptual knowledge systems. Computers and Math. with Applications 23 (1992), 493-515.
- 22. Zadeh, L.A.: Similarity relations and fuzzy orderings. Inf. Sci. 3 (1971), 177-200.
- Šostak, A., Uljane, I.: Some remarks on topological structure in the context of fuzzy relational mathematical morphology, Atlantis series in Uncertainty Modelling, vol 1, Proceedings 11th Conference of the European Society for Fuzzy Logic and Technology, EUSFLAT 2019, pp. 776-783.
- 24. Yao, Y.Y.: 2004 Annual Meeting of the North American Fuzzy Information Processing Society. NAFIPS '04, pp 796-801.

# Information bireducts and its relationship with reducts

#### Fernando Chacón-Gómez, María Eugenia Cornejo, Jesús Medina and Eloísa Ramírez-Poussa

Department of Mathematics, University of Cádiz, Cádiz, Spain.

e-mail: {fernando.chacon, mariaeugenia.cornejo, jesus.medina, eloisa.ramirez}@uca.es

**Abstract:** Information bireducts are useful tools in Rough Set Theory in order to simultaneously reduce the sets of objects and attributes in a dataset. Specifically, information bireducts provide non-redundant subtables preserving the original discernibilities. This paper presents different properties of information bireducts taking special interest in its relationship with reducts.

Keywords: Rough Set Theory · Information tables · Reducts · Bireducts

Acknowledgement: Partially supported by the the 2014-2020 ERDF Operational Programme in collaboration with the State Research Agency (AEI) in projects TIN2016-76653-P and PID2019-108991GB-I00, and with the Department of Economy, Knowledge, Business and University of the Regional Government of Andalusia in project FEDER-UCA18-108612, and by the European Cooperation in Science & Technology (COST) Action CA17124.

- M. J. Benítez-Caballero, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Towards a classification of rough set bireducts. In M. J. Lesot, S. Vieira, M. Z. Reformat, J. a. P. Carvalho, A. Wilbik, B. Bouchon-Meunier, and R. R. Yager, editors, *Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based Systems*, pages 759-770, Cham, 2020. Springer International Publishing.
- M. J. Benítez-Caballero, J. Medina, E. Ramírez-Poussa, and D. Ślęzak. A computational procedure for variable selection preserving different initial conditions. *International Journal of Computer Mathematics*, 97(1-2):387-404, 2020.
- M. J. Benítez-Caballero, J. Medina-Moreno, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Bireducts in Formal Concept Analysis, pages 191–198. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2020.
- M. J. Benítez-Caballero, J. Medina, E. Ramírez-Poussa, and D. Ślęzak. Bireducts with tolerance relations. *Information Sciences*, 435:26 – 39, 2018.
- C. Cornelis, R. Jensen, G. Hurtado, and D. Ślęzak. Attribute selection with fuzzy decision reducts. *Information Sciences*, 180:209-224, 2010.
- A. Janusz and D. Ślęzak. Rough set methods for attribute clustering and selection. Applied Artificial Intelligence, 28(3):220-242, 2014.
- A. Janusz, D. Ślęzak, and H. S. Nguyen. Unsupervised similarity learning from textual data. Fundamenta Informaticae, Volume 119:319 - 336, 01 2012.
- N. Mac Parthalain and R. Jensen. Simultaneous feature and instance selection using fuzzy-rough bireducts. In 2013 IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems (FUZZ-IEEE 2013), pages 1-8, July 2013.

- J. Medina. Relating attribute reduction in formal, object-oriented and propertyoriented concept lattices. Computers & Mathematics with Applications, 64(6):1992-2002, 2012.
- Z. Pawlak. Rough sets. International Journal of Computer and Information Science, 11:341-356, 1982.
- S. Stawicki and D. Ślęzak. Recent advances in decision bireducts: Complexity, heuristics and streams. In P. Lingras, M. Wolski, C. Cornelis, S. Mitra, and P. Wasilewski, editors, *Rough Sets and Knowledge Technology*, volume 8171 of *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, pages 200-212. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013.
- S. Stawicki, D. Ślęzak, A. Janusz, and S. Widz. Decision bireducts and decision reducts - a comparison. *International Journal of Approximate Reasoning*, 84:75–109, 2017.
- Y. Yao and Y. Zhao. Attribute reduction in decision-theoretic rough set models. Information Sciences, 178(17):3356-3373, 2008.
- Y. Zhao, Y. Yao, and F. Luo. Data analysis based on discernibility and indiscernibility. *Information Sciences*, 177(22):4959 - 4976, 2007.

#### Keynote speech:

### Adjoint algebras. Theory and applications.

#### María Eugenia Cornejo

Department of Mathematics, University of Cádiz, Cádiz, Spain



**Abstract:** One important goal for obtaining useful information from databases is to select the most suitable operators to be considered in the computations. The more versatile and tractable the operators are, the better can be adapted to the data and so, more knowledge can be extracted. For example, in image processing, the noise is very notable and different general operators such as, pre-aggregations, ordered directionally monotone functions, etc., have been introduced in order to obtain better results. Adjoint triples are other general operators which have been used to introduce flexible tools for defining fuzzy versatile frameworks in logic programming, formal concept analysis, rough set theory, fuzzy relation equations and mathematical morphology. Adjoint triples arise as an interesting generalization of t-norms and their residuated implications, since they preserve their main properties and retain only the minimal mathematical requirements for guaranteeing operability. Specifically, they are tuples composed of an adjoint conjunctor and two residuated implications. Knowing in depth these operators will allow us to solve a larger number of real problems, which clearly highlight the importance of studying this kind of operators

This presentation provides a wide study on adjoint algebras including theoretical definitions and properties, as well as a comparison with other different general (non-commutative) algebraic structures such as sup-preserving aggregations, quantales, u-norms, uninorms and general implications considered in extended-order algebras. In addition, different applications of fuzzy mathematical tools, whose underlying algebraic structure is an adjoint algebra, will be mentioned.

# On the applicability of fuzzy lines in circular Hough transform in lesion segmentation on liver CT images

#### Melinda Kovács and Szilvia Nagy

Széchenyi István University, Faculty of Mechanical Engineering, Informatics and Electrical Engineering, Győr, Hungary.

e-mail: kovacs.melinda@sze.hu, nagysz@sze.hu

**Abstract:** Most of the lesions that grow in the liver and need to be found on a CT take are roundish, though especially in the case of malignant lesions the irregularity of the shape is also rather common. Classical Hough transform, however, which is one of the most used methods for finding circles, usually fails to find the contours of these objects, because of the larger or smaller irregularity of the shapes. Introducing a fuzzification in the edge filtered version of the image, which is usually the basis of a Hough transform, makes the Hough transform more flexible for using in liver CT image analysis.

**Keywords:** Hough transform  $\cdot$  fuzzy Hough transform  $\cdot$  roundish object  $\cdot$  liver lesion  $\cdot$  CT image analysis

**Acknowledgement:** The research was supported by the Project GINOP-2.3.4.-15-2016-0003 of the Széchenyi István University.

- 1. P. Bilic, The Liver Tumor Segmentation Benchmark (LiTS), arXiv:1901.04056, 2019.
- 2. O. Ronneberger, P. Fischer, T. Brox, U-net: Convolutional networks for biomedical image segmentation. In: International Conference on Medical Image Computing and Computer-assisted Intervention. Springer, pp. 234-241, 2015.
- Rela, M., Suryakari, N. R., and Reddy, P. R., "Liver Tumor Segmentation and Classification: A Systematic Review," 2020 IEEE-HYDCON, Hyderabad, India, 2020, pp. 1-6.
- 4. F. Milletari, N. Navab, S.A. Ahmadi, V-net: Fully convolutional neural networks for volumetric medical image segmentation, In: Fourth International Conference on 3D Vision (3DV), IEEE, pp. 565–571, 2016.
- 5. P.F. Christ, et al., Automatic liver and tumor segmentation of CT and MRI volumes using cascaded fully convolutional neural networks, arXiv preprint arXiv:170205970, 2017;.
- G. Chlebus, A. Schenk, J.H. Moltz, B. van Ginneken, H.K. Hahn, H. Meine, Automatic liver tumor segmentation in CT with fully convolutional neural networks and object-based postprocessing, Scientific Reports, Vol. 8, Article number 15497, 2018.
- M. Schwier, J.H. Moltz, H.O. Peitgen, Object-based analysis of CT images for automatic detection and segmentation of hypodense liver lesions, International Journal of Computer Assisted Radiology and Surgery, Vol. 6, pp. 737–747, 2011.
- M.G. Linguraru, et al., Tumor burden analysis on computed tomography by automated liver and tumor segmentation, IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging, Vol. 31, pp. 1965–1976, 2012.

- 9. V.M. Georgieva, S.G. Vassilev, Kidney Segmentation in Ultrasound Images via Active Contours, 11th International Conference on Communications, Electromagnetics and Medical Applications, Athens, Greece, October 2016.
- S. Kadoury, E. Vorontsov, A. Tang, Metastatic liver tumour segmentation from discriminant Grassmannian manifolds, Physics in Medicine and Biology, Vol. 60, pp. 6459-6478, 2015.
- M. Kovács, Sz. Nagy, On Image Preprocessing Methods for Preparation Liver CT Image Series Database for Intelligent Segmentation and Classification Algorithms, 54th International Scientific Conference on Information, Communication and Energy Systems and Technologies, Ohrid, North-Macedonia, 27-29th June, 2019.
- 12. P.V.C. Hough, Machine Analysis of Bubble Chamber Pictures, Proceedings of the International Conference on High Energy Accelerators and Instrumentation, 1959.
- R.O. Duda, P.E. Hart, Use of the Hough Transformation to Detect Lines and Curves in Pictures, Communications of the ACM, Graphics and Image Precessing, Vol. 15, pp. 11-15, 1972.
- 14. D.H. Ballard, Generalizing the Hough transform to detect arbitrary shapes. Pattern Recognition, Vol. 13, pp. 111–122, 1981.
- J.H. Han, L.T. Kóczy, T. Poston, Fuzzy Hough transform, Pattern Recognition Lett., Vol. 15, pp. 649-658, 1994.
- 16. L.A. Zadeh, Fuzzy sets, Information and Control, Vol. 8, pp. 338-353, 1965.

# Directional properties of semi-aggregation functions

#### Andrea Stupňanová

Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Faculty of Civil Engineering Bratislava, Slovak Republic.

e-mail: and rea.stupnanova @stuba.sk

**Abstract:** We relate notions of directional monotonicity and of directional shift-invariantness with the classical directional derivatives. Based on a fixed direction  $\vec{r}$ , possible shift constants are determined. Several examples illustrate our ideas and results.

**Keywords:** Aggregation function  $\cdot$  directional derivative  $\cdot$  directional monotonicity  $\cdot$  directional shift-invariantness

Acknowledgement: This work was supported by the Slovak Research and Development Agency under the contract no. APVV-17-0066 and grant VEGA 1/0468/20.

- Bustince, H., Fernández, J., Kolesárová, A., Mesiar, R.: Directional monotonicity of fusion functions. European Journal of Operational Research 244 (1) (2015) 300–308.
- Grabisch, G., Marichal, J.-L., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Aggregation Functions, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2009.
- Lázaro, J., Rückschlossová, T., Calvo, T.: Shift invariant binary aggregation operators. Fuzzy Sets and Systems 142(1) (2004) 51-62.
- Lucca, G., Sanz, J.A., Dimuro, G.P., Bedregal, B., Mesiar, R., Kolesárová, A., Bustince, H.: Pre-aggregation functions: construction and an application. IEEE Transactions on Fuzzy Systems 24(2) (2016) 260-272.
- Lucce, R.D., Kranz, D.H., Suppes, P., Tversky, A.: Foundations of Measurement. Vol. III: Representation, Axiomatization, and Invariance. Academic Press Inc., San Diego, CA, 1990.
- Mesiar, R., Stupňanová, A.: Directional shift-stable functions. Mathematics 9, 1077 (2021).
- Wilkin, T., Beliakov, G.: Weakly monotone aggregation functions. International Journal of Intelligent Systems 30 (2015) 144-165

# Generalized Phi-Transform of Aggregation Functions on Bounded Lattices

#### Martin Kalina

Slovak University of Technology, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Radlinského 11,Sk-810 05 Bratislava, Slovakia.

e-mail: martin.kalina@stuba.sk

**Abstract:** In 2019, Jin et al. presented a new construction method for aggregation functions that is based on the so-called bijective chains, generalizing the standard isomorphic  $\varphi$ -transforms of aggregation functions. It covers, among others, several known construction methods, such as particular cases of ordinal sums of aggregation functions, e.g., of t-norms, copulas, t-conorms, etc. In this paper, we introduce a new construction method to aggregation functions on bounded lattices.

**Keywords:** Aggregation function  $\cdot$  Ordinal sum  $\cdot$  Bounded lattice  $\cdot \varphi$ -transform

Acknowledgement: The work on this paper was supported by the VEGA grant agency, grant No. 1/0006/19 and 2/0142/20, and by the Science and Technology Assistance Agency under contract No. APVV-18-0052.

- 1. Akella, P.: Structure of n-uninorms. Fuzzy Sets and Systems 158, 1631-1651 (2007)
- 2. Alsina, C., Frank, M., Schweizer, B.: Associative Functions: Triangular Norms and Copulas. Springer, Heidelberg (2006)
- 3. Birkhoff, G.: Lattice Theory. American Mathematical Society Colloquium Publishers, Providence, RI, (1967)
- 4. De Baets, B., Mesiar, R.: Ordinal Sums of Aggregation Operators. In Technologies for Constructing Intelligent Systems 2: Tools. pp. 137–148, Springer Verlag, (2002)
- 5. Beliakov, G., Bustice, H., Calvo. T.: A practical guide to averaging functions. Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing, 329, Springer, (2016)
- 6. Beliakov, G., Pradera, A., Calvo, T.: Aggregation functions: a guide for practitioners. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg (2007)
- Ertugrul, U.: A way to obtain 2-uninorm on bounded lattice from uninorms defined on subintervals of bounded lattice. New Trends in Mathematical Sciences 5(2), 1–9 (2017)
- Grabisch, M., Marichal, J. L., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Aggregation functions. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, (2009)
- Jin, L., Kalina, M. Mesiar, R., Borkotokey, S., Špirová, J.: Generalized phitransformations and n-uninorms. In: 6th International Conference on Control, Decision and Information Technologies (CoDIT'19), pp. 506-511. IEEE, Paris (2019)
- Jin, L., Kalina, M. Mesiar, R., Qian, G.: On some properties and comparative analysis for different OWA Monoids, Int. J. Intell. Syst. 32(11), 1115–1135 (2017)
- Jin, L., Mesiar, R., Kalina, M., Špirková, J., Barkotokey, S.: Generalized phitransformations of aggregation functions, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 372, 124–141 (2019)

- Jin, L., Qian, G.: OWA generation function and some adjustment methods for OWA operators with application. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 24(1) 168-178 (2016)
- Klement, E. P., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Triangular norms, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg (2000)
- Mesiar, R., Borkotokey, S., Jin, L., Kalina, M.: Aggregation Functions and Capacities. Fuzzy Sets and Systems 346 138-146 (2018)
- Mesiar, R., Šipeky, L., Gupta, P., Jin, L.: Aggregation of OWA operators. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 26(1) 284-291 (2018)
- Mesiar, R., Stupňanová, A., Yager, R. R.: Generalizations of OWA operators. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. 23(6) 2154-2162 (2015)
- 17. Mesiar, R., Borkotokey, S., Jin, L., Kalina, M.: Aggregation under uncertainty. IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Syst. **26**(4) 2475-2478 (2018)
- Nelsen, R. B.: An Introduction to Copulas. Springer Series in Statistics, Springer-Verlag New York (2006)

# Sugeno Integral for Atanassov Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sets

### Ondrej Krídlo<sup>1</sup> and Manuel Ojeda-Aciego<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Computer Science, Faculty of Science, Pavol Jozef Šafárik University, Košice, Slovakia.

e-mail: ondrej.kridlo@upjs.sk

<sup>2</sup> Universidad de Málaga. Departamento de Matemática Aplicada. Spain. e-mail: aciego@uma.es

**Abstract:** We continue previous work on the recently proposed relationship between *L*-fuzzy measures, integrals and isotone concept-forming operators on a Girard monoid in order to define a generalized notion of Sugeno integral for Atanassov Intuitionistic L-fuzzy sets. We also provide some examples on the practical interpretation of the proposed notion.

Keywords: Intuitionistic fuzzy sets · Sugeno measure integral

Acknowledgement: Partially supported by projects PGC2018-095869-B-I00 and UMA2018-FEDERJA-001, and the COST Action CA17124 DigForASP (Digital Forensics: evidence Analysis via intelligent Systems and Practices).

- C.-M. Hwang, M.-S. Yang, W.-L. Hung, and M.-G. Lee. A similarity measure of intuitionistic fuzzy sets based on the Sugeno integral with its application to pattern recognition. *Information Sciences* 189:93-109, 2012.
- 2. M.S. Khan; Q. M. Danish Lohani. Atanassov's intuitionistic fuzzy measure based on the Sugeno integral induced by  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -cut. *Proc. of FUZZ-IEEE* 2020.
- 3. O. Krídlo, M. Ojeda-Aciego. Classifying adjoint pairs and adjoint triples in an Atanassov L-fuzzy framework. *IEEE Transactions on Fuzzy Systems* 2021. In press. http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/TFUZZ.2020.3038482
- O. Krídlo. Isotone L-Fuzzy Formal Concept Analysis and L-Valued Fuzzy Measures and Integrals. Communications in Computer and Information Science 1239:726– 735, 2020.
- 5. G.E. Martínez and P Melin. Intuitionistic Fuzzy Sugeno Integral for Face Recognition. Studies in Computational Intelligence 862:781-792, 2020.

#### Keynote speech:

## Outliers-based aggregation

#### Radko Mesiar

Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Slovakia



Abstract: Inspired by the basic fuzzy connectives min (t-norm TM) and max (t-conorm SM), we introduce and study outliers-based extended aggregation functions. Simply said, A is an (a, b)-outliers-based extended aggregation function if for each arity  $n \ge a + b$ , its output values depend on the number a of minimal and b of maximal input values only. We focus on associative outliers-based extended aggregation functions, including t-norms, t-conorms, uninorms, nullnorms, as well as on outliers-based extended OWA operators and related outliers-based extended aggregation functions. Also, some distinguished integrals are considered. Observe that there is unique (1, 0)-outliers-based t-norm, namely the strongest t-norm TM, but plenty of (2, 0)-outliers-based t-norms, including the drastic product TD and the nilpotent minimum TnM, among others. Results for t-conorms are obtained by duality, which changes (a, b)-outliers case into the (b, a)-outliers case. These results help also in characterization of outliers-based uninorms and nullnorms.

# Facilitating the simulation of domestic energy systems through linguistic representations

Luis Rodríguez-Benítez<sup>1</sup>, Pablo Palomino-Gamoez<sup>1</sup>, Luis Jiménez-Linares<sup>1</sup>, Juan Moreno-García<sup>1</sup> and Jun Liu<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Information and System Technologies, University of Castilla-La Mancha, Ciudad Real, Spain.

e-mail: luis.rodriguez@uclm.es, pablo.palomino1@alu.uclm.es, luis.jimenez@uclm.es, juan.moreno@uclm.es

<sup>2</sup> School of Computing and Mathematics, University of Ulster, Belfast, Northern Ireland (UK).

e-mail: j.liu@ulster.ac.uk

**Abstract:** The demand and cost of energy and the emerging of new clean energy have promoted the use of a variety of energy sources in the home, which requires the formulation of new policies or strategies to manage these energy sources in the most cost-effective manner. This work aims to propose an intelligent energy management system that can be used in civil and commercial buildings to simulate the choice of energy at a given time, and to select the best energy from different available energies, so as to meet the most economical way to feed the electricity consumption of the house. The technical core of this work is how to make the best choice from the perspective of energy costs various related factors changing over time. Taking into account the network configurations that power houses and have different energy sources (such as photo-voltaic panels, batteries or the grid itself, etc.) and their constraints, as well as the energy cost objective function, we convert this grid modeling or energy configuration problem to an energy cost Constraint Satisfaction Problem (CSP), in order to achieve simulation under different conditions. In addition, considering the complexity of the parameters for some inexperienced users, when establishing certain specific parameter configurations, we propose to use natural language to represent these parameters, so as to use fuzzy logic methods to deal with the ambiguity and imprecision related to these variables. The experimental simulates the difference while the family has its own fixed energy configuration and the case of the optimized the energy configuration according to the grid configuration. The system can also help simulate various grid configurations in order to find the best or most suitable configuration before making any investment.

**Keywords:** Renewable electricity generation · Smart grids in residential contexts · Linear optimization · Linguistic variables

Acknowledgement: This work has been funded by the Dept. of Information and System Technologies and the Research Vice-rectory of the University of Castilla-La Mancha.

- Holmgren, William and Andrews, Robert and Lorenzo, Antonio and Stein, Joshua. (2015). PVLIB Python 2015. 1-5. 10.1109/PVSC.2015.7356005.
- Red Electrica Española, "Website of e-sios", https://www.ree.es/en/website-esios, Last accessed: 9 February 2021.
- Ayman Youssef, Mohammed El-Telbany, Abdelhalim Zekry, "The role of artificial intelligence in photo-voltaic systems design and control: A review", Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, Volume 78, 2017, Pages 72-79, ISSN 1364-0321.
- R. Rajesh, M. Carolin Mabel, "Design and real time implementation of a novel rule compressed fuzzy logic method for the determination operating point in a photo voltaic system", Energy, Volume 116, Part 1, 2016, Pages 140-153, ISSN 0360-5442.
- S. Angalaeswari, O.V. Gnana Swathika, V. Ananthakrishnan, J.L. Febin Daya, K. Jamuna, "Efficient Power Management of Grid operated MicroGrid Using Fuzzy Logic Controller (FLC)", Energy Procedia, Volume 117, 2017, Pages 268-274, ISSN 1876-6102.
- Ameen Sarhan, Hashim Hizam, Norman Mariun, M.E. Ya'acob, "An improved numerical optimization algorithm for sizing and configuration of standalone photo-voltaic system components in Yemen", Renewable Energy, Volume 134, 2019, Pages 1434-1446, ISSN 0960-1481.
- M. S. Gaballa, A. M. Abdel-Ghany and M. Bahgat, "Practical implementation of TS-fuzzy PID to control a dual-axis sun tracker of a photo-voltaic panel," 2017 Nineteenth International Middle East Power Systems Conference (MEPCON), Cairo, 2017, pp. 1216-1221, doi: 10.1109/MEPCON.2017.8301337.
- M. Unde, K. Deokar, M. Hans and S. Kawthe, "Closed-Loop Design of Fuzzy Logic Controller in Solar Power Generation," 2020 Fourth International Conference on Inventive Systems and Control (ICISC), Coimbatore, India, 2020, pp. 215-219
- N. Chitra, P. Sivakumar, S. Priyanka and A. Devisree, "Adaptive fuzzy logic controlled DC-DC boost converter for harmonic reduction in photo voltaic system," 2017 IEEE International Conference on Power, Control, Signals and Instrumentation Engineering (ICPCSI), Chennai, 2017, pp. 2429-2433
- M. F. Mahmoud, A. T. Mohamed, L. A. Said, A. H. Madian and A. G. Radwan, "Power Tracking Controller Design For Photo-voltaic Systems Based On Particle Swarm Optimization Technique," 2019 31st International Conference on Microelectronics (ICM), Cairo, Egypt, 2019, pp. 14-17.
- 11. L. Marti and F. Herrera, An overview on the 2-tuple linguistic model for computing with words in decision making: Extensions, applications and challenges. Information Sciences, 2012, vol. 207, p. 1-18.

# Experiments with the Discrete Bacterial Memetic Evolutionary Algorithm for solving the Cumulative Capacitated Vehicle Routing Problem

Boldizsár Tüű-Szabó<sup>1</sup>, Péter Földesi<sup>2</sup> and László T. Kóczy<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Széchenyi István University, Department of Information Technology, Győr, Hungary. e-mail: tszboldi@gmail.com, tuu.szabo.boldizsar@sze.hu

<sup>2</sup> Széchenyi István University, Department of Logistics, Győr, Hungary. e-mail: foldesi@sze.hu

<sup>3</sup> Széchenyi István University, Department of Information Technology, Győr, Hungary Budapest University of Technology and Economics, Department of Telecommunications and Media Informatics, Budapest, Hungary.

e-mail: koczy@sze.hu

**Abstract:** In this paper we present our initial experiments with the Discrete Bacterial Memetic Evolutionary Algorithm for solving the Cumulative Capacitated Vehicle Routing Problem. The algorithm was tested on instances proposed in the literature. However our method was able to find the optimal solution for small (around 50 nodes) instances, but its convergence speed is low. In the last section some of our ideas to improve the performance of the algorithm were presented.

Keywords: discrete optimization  $\cdot$  Cumulative Capacitated Vehicle Routing Problem  $\cdot$  metaheuristic  $\cdot$  vehicle routing

Acknowledgement: The authors would like to thanks to the Hungarian Scientific Research Fund (OTKA) K124055 for the support of the research.

- Bernal, E., Lagunes, M.L., Castillo, O. et al.: Optimization of Type-2 Fuzzy Logic Controller Design Using the GSO and FA Algorithms, International Journal of Fuzzy Systems, 23(1): pp. 42-57, 2021.
- Castillo, O., Amador-Angulo, L.: A generalized type-2 fuzzy logic approach for dynamic pa-rameter adaptation in bee colony optimization applied to fuzzy controller design, Information Sciences, 460-461: pp. 476-496, 2018.
- Botzheim, J., Cabrita, C., Kóczy, L.T., Ruano, A.E.: Fuzzy rule extraction by bacterial me-metic algorithms, In: Proceedings of the 11th World Congress of International Fuzzy Sys-tems Association, IFSA 2005, Beijing, China, pp. 1563-1568, 2005.
- Christofides, N., Mingozzi, A., Toth, P.: The vehicle routing problem. In: Christofides N, Mingozzi A, Toth P, Sandi L, editors. Combinatorial optimization. Chichester: Wiley, pp. 315–38., 1979.
- Farkas, M., Földesi, P., Botzheim, J., Kóczy, T.L.: Approximation of a Modified Traveling Salesman Problem using Bacterial Memetic Algorithms, In: Towards Intelligent Engineering & Information Tech., SCI 243, pp. 607-625, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009.

- Holland, J.H.: Adaption in Natural and Artificial Systems, The MIT Press, Cambridge 1992.
- Kennedy, J., Eberhart, R.: Particle swarm optimization, Proceedings of the IEEE Internation-al Conference on Neural Networks ICNN 1995, Perth, WA, Australia, vol. 4, pp. 1942-1948, 1995.
- Kóczy, L.T., Földesi, P., Tüű-Szabó, B.: An effective Discrete Bacterial Memetic Evolution-ary Algorithm for the Traveling Salesman Problem, In: International Journal of Intelligent Systems, 2017.
- Kóczy, L.T., Földesi, P., Tüű-Szabó, B.: A Discrete Bacterial Memetic Evolutionary Algo-rithm for the Traveling Salesman Problem, IEEE World Congress on Computational Intelli-gence (WCCI 2016), Vancouver, Canada, pp. 3261-3267, 2016.
- Moscato, P.: On Evolution, Search, Optimization, Genetic Algorithms and Martial Arts -Towards Memetic Algorithms, Technical Report Caltech Concurrent Computation Program, Report. 826, California Institute of Technology, Pasadena, USA, 1989.
- 11. Nawa, N.E., Furuhashi, T.: Fuzzy System Parameters Discovery by Bacterial Evolutionary Algorithm, IEEE Tr. Fuzzy Systems 7, pp. 608-616, 1999.
- Ngueveu, S., Prins, C., Calvo, R.W.: An effective memetic algorithm for the cumulative ca-pacitated vehicle routing problem, Computers & Operations Research, Vol. 37, pp. 1877-1885., 2010.
- Olivas, F., Valdez, F., Melin, P., Sombra, A., Castillo, O.: Interval type-2 fuzzy logic for dynamic parameter adaptation in a modified gravitational search algorithm, Information Sciences, 476: pp. 159-175, 2019.
- Tüű-Szabó, B., Földesi, P., Kóczy, L.T.: Improved Discrete Bacterial Memetic Evolutionary Algorithm for the Traveling Salesman Problem, Proceedings of the Computational Intelli-gence in Information Systems Conference (CIIS 2016), Bandar Seri Begawan, Brunei, pp. 27-38, 2017.
- Tüű-Szabó, B., Földesi, P., Kóczy, L.T.: An Efficient Evolutionary Metaheuristic for the Traveling Repairman (Minimum Latency) Problem, International Journal of Computational Intelligence Systems 13 (1), pp. 781-793, 2020.
- 16. Sze, J.F., Salhi, S., Wassan, N.: The cumulative capacitated vehicle routing problem with min-sum and min-max objectives: An effective hybridisation of adaptive variable neighbour-hood search and large neighbourhood search, Transportation Research Part B 101, pp. 162-184, 2017.

# Fuzzy Inference System-like Aggregation Operator (FISAO) for Fuzzy Signatures

#### Ferenc Lilik<sup>1</sup>, Ádám Bukovics<sup>1</sup> and László T. Kóczy<sup>1,2</sup>

University of Győr, Hungary, H-9026 Győr, Hungary.

e-mail: lilikf@sze.hu, bukovics@sze.hu, koczy@sze.hu

<sup>2</sup> University of Győr, Hungary, H-9026 Győr, Hungary.

**Abstract:** This paper deals with a novel fuzzy aggregation operator. This aggregation operator is suggested to such fuzzy signatures, where the correlation between the leafs or branches can not be handled by classical operators as weighted relevance aggregation operator or weighted generalized mean, more with fuzzy rules. This paper presents the suggested Fuzzy inference system-like aggregation operator (FISAO), shows its axiomatic conformity and depicts its use through an experimental example.

Keywords: fuzzy signatures  $\cdot$  aggregation operators  $\cdot$  Weighted Relevance Aggragation Operator  $\cdot$  FISAO

Acknowledgement: L.T.K. was supported by the National Research, Development and Innovation Office (Hungary) grant nr. K124055.

- Kóczy, L. T., Vámos, T., Biró, G., "Fuzzy Signatures," Proc. of EUROFUSE-SIC '99, 1999, pp. 210-217.
- Kóczy, L. T., Cornejo, M. E., Medina, J., Algebraic structure of fuzzy signatures, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, Volume 418, 2021, pp. 25-50, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fss.2020.12.020.
- Komarudin, A., Setyawan, N., Kamajaya, L., Achmadiah, M. N., Zulfatman, Z., Signature PSO: A novel inertia weight adjustment using fuzzy signature for LQR tuning, Bulletin of Electrical Engineering and Informatics, vol.10, no.1, February 2021, pp. 308 318. DOI: 10.11591/eei.v10i1.2667
- Zandvakili, A., Mansouri, N. MasoudJavidi, M., Signature GOA: A novel comfort zone parameteradjustment using fuzzy signature for task schedulingin cloud environment, Journal of Algorithms and Computation, vol 53, issue 1, June 2021, pp. 61-95, doi: 10.22059/jac.2021.81539
- Vöröskői, K., Fogarasi, G., Buruzs, A., Földesi, P., Kóczy, L. T., Three level fuzzy signature based decision methodology for packaging system design, Journal of Automation, Mobile Robotics and Intelligent Systems, vol. 14, no 2, 2020, pp. 99-105
- Masdari, M. and Khezri, H., A survey and taxonomy of the fuzzysignaturebased Intrusion Detection Systems, Applied Soft Computing Journal (2020), doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asoc.2020.106301.
- Mendis, B. S. U., Gedeon, T. D., Botzheim, J. and Koczy, L. T., "Generalised Weighted Relevance Aggregation Operators for Hierarchical Fuzzy Signatures," CIMCA'06, 2006, pp. 198-198, doi: 10.1109/CIMCA.2006.110.

- Harmati I. Á., Kóczy L.T., "On the Sensitivity of Weighted General Mean Based Type-2 Fuzzy Signatures," Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 9692. Springer, Cham, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-39378-0 19
- Mendis, B. and Gedeon, T., "Aggregation selection for hierarchical fuzzy signatures: A comparison of hierarchical owa and wrao," in Proceedings of IPMU'08, pp 1376-1383, Torremolinos (Malaga), june 22-27,2008.
- Tamás, K., Kóczy, L. T., "Mamdaní-type inference in fuzzy signature based rule bases," Proceedings of the 8th International Symposium of Hungarian Researchers, Hungary, pp. 513-525, 2007.
- Pozna, Claudiu, Minculete, Nicuşor, Precup, Radu-Emil, Kóczy, László T., Ballagi, Áron, "Signatures: Definitions, operators and applications to fuzzy modelling," Fuzzy Sets and Systems, Volume 201, pp. 86-104, 2012. ISSN 0165-0114, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fss.2011.12.016.
- Mamdani, E. H., "Application of Fuzzy Logic to Approximate Reasoning Using Linguistic Synthesis," IEEE Transactions on Computers, C-26, 1977, pp 1182-1191.
- Bukovics, Á, Harmati, I, Kóczy, LT, "Fuzzy Signature Based Methods for Modelling the Structural Condition of Residential Buildings," STUDIES IN FUZZINESS AND SOFT COMPUTING 357 pp. 237-273. , 37 p., 2017.

#### Looking for fuzzy extensions of closure operators

#### Manuel Ojeda-Hernández, Inma P. Cabrera, Pablo Cordero and Emilio Muñoz-Velasco

Dept. Matemática Aplicada, Universidad de Málaga. Spain.

e-mail: {manuojeda, ipcabrera, pcordero, ejmunoz}uma.es

**Abstract:** Closure operators and closure systems are key concepts in both pure and applied mathematics. Fuzzy closure operators [1,3] appear in several areas of fuzzy logic and its applications, including fuzzy mathematical morphology [9,13], fuzzy relational equations [8], approximate reasoning [6,7] and fuzzy logic in narrow sense [11]. One of the main areas in which these notions are used is lattice theory [5] and, particularly, Formal Concept Analysis (FCA) [10]. The results of FCA concerning these structures were extended to the fuzzy framework in [2].

Throughout this paper we work on a complete fuzzy lattice, i.e., there is no explicit use of powerset structure. While fuzzy closure operators have a standard definition in this framework, this is not the case for closure systems. Considering them as crisp sets, we find the most cited definition by Bělohlávek [1], which makes use of the powerset structure; but also one extending the idea of a  $\wedge$ subsemilattice in [4] and a third one in terms of minima of certain sets, which follows the ideas used in weaker structures as fuzzy (pre)posets, in [14]. Fortunately, all these definitions, which come from different ideas, are equivalent. A direct extension of the notion of closure system is to consider them as fuzzy sets where the membership of every element is the degree to which that element is closed. In this sense, there are several definitions too. For instance, there is that of L-closure L-systems by Bělohlávek [1], one by Liu and Lu [12] and one extending the  $\wedge$ -subsemilattice structure mentioned above [14]. These definitions do not behave as well as the previous ones. In fact, these are not equivalent in general. Nevertheless, none of these definitions is in a one-to-one relation with closure operators. It is under the condition of extensionality that some of these definitions are equivalent and the duality between fuzzy closure systems and closure operators can be proved.

Once a definition of fuzzy closure system is fixed, the closure operator structure, typically a crisp mapping, can also be extended. The extension of a mapping is a relation and, in order to maintain the properties of a closure, it needs to be inflationary, isotone and idempotent. With this idea in mind, the properties of fuzzy closure relations and their relationship with fuzzy closure systems are studied.

- Bělohlávek, R.: Fuzzy closure operators. Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications (262), 473–489 (2001)
- 2. Bělohlávek, R.: Fuzzy Relational Systems. Springer (2002)

- Belohlávek, R., Konecny, J.: A reduction theorem to compute fixpoints of fuzzy closure operators. Fuzzy Sets Syst. 369, 132–144 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fss.2018.05.015, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fss.2018.05.015
- 4. Bělohlávek, R.: Lattice type fuzzy order and closure operators in fuzzy ordered sets. In: Proceedings Joint 9th IFSA World Congress and 20th NAFIPS International Conference. vol. 4, pp. 2281–2286 vol.4 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1109/NAFIPS.2001.944427
- 5. Birkhoff, G.: Lattice theory. American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1st edn. (1940)
- 6. Bělohlávek, R.: Pavelka-style fuzzy logic retrospect in and prospect. Fuzzy Sets and Systems 281, 61 - 72(2015).https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fss.2015.07.007
- Cordero, P., Enciso, M., Mora, A., Vychodil, V.: Parameterized simplification logic I: reasoning with implications and classes of closure operators. International Journal of General Systems 49(7), 724-746 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1080/03081079.2020.1831484
- 8. De Baets, B.: Analytical Solution Methods for Fuzzy Relational Equations, pp. 291-340. Springer US, Boston, MA (2000)
- Elorza, J., Fuentes-González, R., Bragard, J., Burillo, P.: On the relation between fuzzy closing morphological operators, fuzzy consequence operators induced by fuzzy preorders and fuzzy closure and co-closure systems. Fuzzy Sets and Systems 218, 73-89 (2013). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fss.2012.08.010
- 10. Ganter, B., Wille, R.: Formal Concept Analysis: Mathematical Foundation. Springer (1999)
- 11. Hájek, P.: Metamathematics of Fuzzy Logic. Trends in Logic, Springer Netherlands (2013)
- Liu, Y.H., Lu, L.X.: L-closure operators, L-closure systems and L-closure Lsystems on complete L-ordered sets. In: 2010 Seventh International Conference on Fuzzy Systems and Knowledge Discovery. vol. 1, pp. 216-218 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1109/FSKD.2010.5569695
- Madrid, N., Medina, J., Ojeda-Aciego, M., Perfilieva, I.: Toward the use of fuzzy relations in the definition of mathematical morphology operators. Journal of Fuzzy Set Valued Analysis 2016(1), 87 – 98 (2016)
- 14. Ojeda-Hernández, M., Cabrera, I.P., Cordero, P., Muñoz-Velasco, E.: Closure systems as a fuzzy extension of meet-subsemilattices. In: IFSA-EUSFLAT (To appear)

# Context of a local congruence concept reduction

## Roberto G. Aragón, Jesús Medina and Eloísa Ramírez-Poussa

Department of Mathematics, University of Cádiz, Spain.

e-mail: {roberto.aragon, jesus.medina, eloisa.ramirez}@uca.es

**Abstract:** In formal concept analysis, attribute reductions lead to equivalence relations on concept lattices. Lately, local congruences arose to enhance the structure of the equivalence classes. In this paper, we show a procedure that details the impact of the application of local congruences on concept lattices obtained from attribute reductions.

**Keywords:** Formal concept analysis  $\cdot$  congruence relation  $\cdot$  equivalence relations  $\cdot$  attribute reduction

Acknowledgement: Partially supported by the 2014–2020 ERDF Operational Programme in collaboration with the State Research Agency (AEI) in project PID2019-108991GB-I00, and with the Department of Economy, Knowledge, Business and University of the Regional Government of Andalusia in project FEDER-UCA18-108612, and by the European Cooperation in Science & Technology (COST) Action CA17124.

- C. Alcalde and A. Burusco. Study of the relevance of objects and attributes of L-fuzzy contexts using overlap indexes. In J. Medina, M. Ojeda-Aciego, J. L. Verdegay, D. A. Pelta, I. P. Cabrera, B. Bouchon-Meunier, and R. R. Yager, editors, Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based Systems. Theory and Foundations, pages 537-548, Cham, 2018. Springer International Publishing.
- 2. R. G. Aragón, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Identifying non-sublattice equivalence classes induced by an attribute reduction in fca. *Mathematics*, 9(5), 2021.
- R. G. Aragón, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Impact of local congruences in variable selection from datasets. *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, page 113416, 2021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cam.2021.113416.
- R. G. Aragón, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Reducing concept lattices by means of a weaker notion of congruence. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 418:153-169, 2021. Algebra.
- R. G. Aragón, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Weaken the congruence notion to reduce concept lattices. *Studies in Computational Intelligence*, -:1-7, 2019. In press.
- 6. R. G. Aragón, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Impact of local congruences in attribute reduction. In M.-J. Lesot, S. Vieira, M. Z. Reformat, J. P. Carvalho, A. Wilbik, B. Bouchon-Meunier, and R. R. Yager, editors, *Information Processing* and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based Systems, volume 1239, pages 748-758, Cham, 2020. Springer International Publishing.

- M. J. Benítez-Caballero, J. Medina, E. Ramírez-Poussa, and D. Ślęzak. A computational procedure for variable selection preserving different initial conditions. *International Journal of Computer Mathematics*, 97(1-2):387-404, 2020.
- J. Chen, J. Mi, B. Xie, and Y. Lin. A fast attribute reduction method for large formal decision contexts. *International Journal of Approximate Reasoning*, 106:1 – 17, 2019.
- 9. B. Ganter and R. Wille. Formal Concept Analysis: Mathematical Foundation. Springer Verlag, 1999.
- J. Konecny and P. Krajča. On attribute reduction in concept lattices: The polynomial time discernibility matrix-based method becomes the cr-method. *Information Sciences*, 491:48 62, 2019.
- 11. L. Zou, K. Pang, X. Song, N. Kang, and X. Liu. A knowledge reduction approach for linguistic concept formal context. *Information Sciences*, 524:165-183, 2020.

# One-sided concept lattices by blocks

## María José Benítez-Caballero and Jesús Medina

Department of Mathematics, University of Cádiz, Spain.

e-mail: {mariajose.benitez, jesus.medina}@uca.es

**Abstract:** One-sided concept lattices is an interesting approach to manage information stored in databases. This theory considers a blended nature of the studied sets such that one set is crisp and the other one is fuzzy. Another important theory to manage and extract knowledge is rough set theory, trough an information system. In this paper, we present a first approach in order to connect one-sided concept lattices and information systems.

**Keywords:** One-sided concept lattice  $\cdot$  tolerance relation  $\cdot$  fuzzy sets  $\cdot$  rough set theory

Acknowledgement: Partially supported by the 2014–2020 ERDF Operational Programme in collaboration with the State Research Agency (AEI) in project PID2019-108991GB-I00, and with the Department of Economy, Knowledge, Business and University of the Regional Government of Andalusia in project FEDER-UCA18-108612, and by the European Cooperation in Science & Technology (COST) Action CA17124.

- Benítez-Caballero, M.J., Medina, J., Ramírez-Poussa, E., Ślęzak, D.: A computational procedure for variable selection preserving different initial conditions. International Journal of Computer Mathematics (2019).
- Benítez-Caballero, M.J., Medina, J., Ramírez-Poussa, E.: Unifying reducts in formal concept analysis and rough set theory. In: Trends in Mathematics and Computational Intelligence, pp. 89–95. Springer International Publishing (Oct 2018).
- Benítez-Caballero, M.J., Medina, J., Ramírez-Poussa, E.: Fuzzy fca attribute reduction properties in rough set theory. In: Bello, R., Miao, D., Falcon, R., Nakata, M., Rosete, A., Ciucci, D. (eds.) Rough Sets. pp. 324–336. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2020)
- Benítez-Caballero, M.J., Medina, J., Ramírez-Poussa, E., Ślęzak, D.: Rough-setdriven approach for attribute reduction in fuzzy formal concept analysis. Fuzzy Sets and Systems (2019).
- Benítez-Caballero, M.J., Medina, J., Ramírez-Poussa, E.: Attribute reduction in rough set theory and formal concept analysis. In: Polkowski, L., Yao, Y., Artiemjew, P., Ciucci, D., Liu, D., Slezak, D., Zielosko, B. (eds.) Rough Sets - International Joint Conference, IJCRS 2017, Olsztyn, Poland, July 3-7, 2017, Proceedings, Part II. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol. 10314, pp. 513-525. Springer (2017).
- Benítez-Caballero, M.J., Medina, J., Ramírez-Poussa, E.: FCA attribute reduction in information systems. In: Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based Systems. Theory and Foundations - 17th International Conference, IPMU 2018, Cádiz, Spain, June 11-15, 2018, Proceedings, Part I. pp. 549-561 (2018).

- Benítez-Caballero, M.J., Medina, J., Ramírez-Poussa, E.: Towards a classification of rough set bireducts. In: Lesot, M., Vieira, S.M., Reformat, M.Z., Carvalho, J.P., Wilbik, A., Bouchon-Meunier, B., Yager, R.R. (eds.) Information Processing and Management of Uncertainty in Knowledge-Based Systems - 18th International Conference, IPMU 2020, Lisbon, Portugal, June 15-19, 2020, Proceedings, Part III. Communications in Computer and Information Science, vol. 1239, pp. 759-770. Springer (2020).
- Burusco, A., Fuentes-González, R.: The study of L-fuzzy concept lattice. Mathware & Soft Computing 3, 209–218 (1994)
- Butka, P., Pócs, J.: Generalization of one-sided concept lattices. Computing and Informatics 32(2), 355-370 (2013),
- Butka, P., Pócs, J., Pósová, J.: On equivalence of conceptual scaling and generalized one-sided concept lattices. Information Sciences 259(0), 57-70 (2014).
- Chen, J., Li, J., Lin, Y., Lin, G., Ma, Z.: Relations of reduction between covering generalized rough sets and concept lattices. Information Sciences 304, 16–27 (2015).
- Cornejo, M.E., Medina, J., Ramírez-Poussa, E.: Attribute reduction in multi-adjoint concept lattices. Information Sciences 294, 41 - 56 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ins.2014.09.033,
- 13. Davey, B., Priestley, H.: Introduction to Lattices and Order. Cambridge University Press, second edn. (2002)
- 14. Medina, J.: Multi-adjoint property-oriented and object-oriented concept lattices. Information Sciences **190**, 95–106 (2012).
- Medina, J.: Relating attribute reduction in formal, object-oriented and propertyoriented concept lattices. Computers & Mathematics with Applications 64(6), 1992– 2002 (2012).
- Pawlak, Z.: Rough sets. International Journal of Computer and Information Science 11, 341–356 (1982)
- Shao, M.W., Li, K.W.: Attribute reduction in generalized one-sided formal contexts. Information Sciences 378, 317 – 327 (2017).
- Wille, R.: Complete tolerance relations of concept lattices. Preprint // Fachbereich Mathematik, Technische Hochschule Darmstadt, Techn. Hochsch., Fachbereich Mathematik (1983),
- 19. Yao, Y.: Rough-set concept analysis: Interpreting rs-definable concepts based on ideas from formal concept analysis. Information Sciences **346-347**, 442-462 (2016).

# Discrete universal fuzzy integrals

# Anna Kolesárová<sup>1</sup> and Radko Mesiar<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Slovak University of Technology, Fac. of Chemical and Food Technology,

Radlinského 9, 812 37 Bratislava, Slovakia.

e-mail: anna.kolesarova@stuba.sk

 $^2$ Slovak University of Technology, Fac. of Civil Engineering, Radlinského 11, 810 05 Bratislava, Slovakia.

e-mail: radko.mesiar@stuba.sk

**Abstract:** Using hypergraphs of survival functions, we propose a rather general method for construction of discrete fuzzy integrals. Our method is based on vertical/horizontal decompositions of hypergraphs and on rectangle mappings suitably evaluating rectangles of the considered decompositions. By means of appropriate binary aggregation functions we define two types of rectangle mappings and three types of discrete fuzzy integral constructions. All introduced methods coincide in the case of the product aggregation function, and then the related integral is the Choquet integral. Several examples are given.

**Keywords:** Aggregation function · Choquet integral · Discrete fuzzy integral · Hypergraph of survival function · Rectangle mapping

Acknowledgement: Both authors kindly acknowledge the support of the project APVV-18-0052, A. Kolesárová was also supported by the grant VEGA 1/0267/21 and R. Mesiar by the grant VEGA 1/0006/19.

- 1. G. Beliakov, A. Pradera, and T. Calvo, Aggregation Functions: A Guide for Practitioners. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 2007.
- G. Beliakov, S. James, A. Kolesárová, and R. Mesiar, Cardinality-limiting extended pre-aggregation functions. *Information Fusion* 76 (2021) 66-74.
- T. Calvo, A. Kolesárová, M. Komorníková, and R. Mesiar: Aggregation Operators: Properties, Classes and Construction Methods. In T. Calvo, G. Mayor, and R. Mesiar, eds.: Aggregation Operators. Physica-Verlag, Heidelberg, 2002, pp. 3–107.
- 4. G. Choquet, Theory of capacities. Ann. Inst. Fourier 5 (1953) 131-295.
- 5. F. Durante, C. Sempi, Semicopulae. Kybernetika 41 (2005) 315-328.
- F. Durante, R. Mesiar, P. L. Papini, and C. Sempi, 2-Increasing binary aggregation operators. *Inform. Sci.* 177 (1) 111-129.
- L. Horanská, A. Šipošová, A generalization of the discrete Choquet and Sugeno integrals based on a fusion function. *Inform. Sci.* 451-452 (2018) 83-99.
- 8. M. Grabisch, J.-L. Marichal, R. Mesiar, and E. Pap, *Aggregation Functions*. Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- H. Imaoka, Opposite Sugeno integral. Journal of Japan Society for Fuzzy Theory and Systems 10 (2) (1998) 200-205.
- E. P. Klement, R. Mesiar, and E. Pap, A universal integral as common frame for Choquet and Sugeno integral. *IEEE Trans. Fuzzy Systems* 18 (2010) 178-187.

- 11. E. P. Klement, R. Mesiar, F. Spizzichino, and A. Stupňanová, Universal integrals based on copulas. *Fuzzy Optimization and Decision Making* **13** (2014) 273-286.
- G. Lucca, J. A. Sanz, G. P. Dimuro, B. Bedregal, M. J. Aisian, M. Elkano, and H. Bustince, CC-integrals: Choquet-like copula-based aggregation functions and its application in fuzzy rule-based classification systems. *Knowledge-Based Systems* 119 (2017) 32-43.
- R. Mesiar, A. Stupňanová, A note on CC-integral. Fuzzy Sets and Systems 355 (2019) 106-109.
- 14. R. B. Nelsen, An Introduction to Copulas, 2nd edition. New York, Springer, 2006.
- M. Sugeno, Theory of Fuzzy Integrals and Applications. Ph.D. Thesis, Tokyo Institute of Technology, Tokyo, 1974.
- 16. Z. Wang, G. J. Klir, Generalized Measure Theory. Springer US, 2009.
- 17. T. Wilkin, G. Beliakov, Weakly monotone aggregation functions. Int. J. Intelligent Syst. 30 (2015) 144–165.

# Energy determined membership function of viscoelastic models

## Mária Minárová

Dpt. of Mathematics, Faculty of Civil Engineering, Slovak University of Technology in Bratislava, Bratislava, Slovak Republic.

e-mail: maria.minarova@stuba.sk

**Abstract:** Mechanical response of viscoelastic materials to an imposed mechanical load stands somewhere between two boundaries - elastic and viscous. Within the viscoelasticity theory the viscoelastic these materials represented by their models are studied. When we allocate zero and one to purely elastic and purely viscous property respectively, we can farther stipulate a V-membership function quantifying the measure of viscous behaviour of the material represented by the model. In this paper the isothermal state is studied. Accordingly, the total amount of energy is split to stored and dissipated one, which defines the ratio of elastic and viscous strength of the model. Hereby, each viscoelastic model can be regarded from the fuzzy viewpoint. Thermodynamics plays the essential role here.

**Keywords:** Viscoelasticity theory · Thermodynamics · Constitutive equation · Dissipated and stored energy · V-membership function · SSD disc

Acknowledgement: This work was supported by the Slovak Research and Development Agency under the contract no. APVV-17-0066, APVV-18-0052 and grants VEGA 1/0522/20 and VEGA 1/0006/19.

- 1. J. Benča, E. Kosaczký, Foundations of Modeling Theory. Publ. House VEDA, Bratislava (1981).
- J. Kopfová, M. Minárová and J. Sumec, Visco Elasto Plastic Modelling, Proceedings of Equadiff conference 2017, SPECTRUM STU, pp. 173-180, (2018).
- P. Krejčí, Hysteresis, Convexity and Dissipation in Hyperbolic Equations, Gakuto Intern. Ser. Math. Sci. Appl., Vol. 8, Gakkoto-sho, Tokyo (1996).
- 4. M. Minárová, Rheology. Visco-Elastic and Visco-Elasto-Plastic Modeling: Habilitation thesis, (2018).
- 5. M. Minárová, Viscoelasticity and energy. Proceeding from SPACE19 conference (2020).
- B. Novotný, A. Hanuška, Theory of Layered Half Spaces, Publishing house VEDA, Bratislava, (1983).
- 7. Z. Sobotka, Rheology of Mass and structures, (in Czech), Academia, Prague (1981).
- 8. N.W. Tschoegl: The Phenomenological Theory of Linear Viscoelastic Behavior, Springer-Verlag New York, (1989.)
- 9. M. Minárová, K. Tvrdá: Thermodynamic Aspects of Viscoelastic Materials Linear and Nonlinear Behavior, (in print).

## Keynote speech:

# Data-Driven Fuzzy Modeling Inspired by Manifolds

## Irina Perfilieva

Centre of Excellence IT4Innovations, University of Ostrava, Czech Republic



**Abstract:** The talk will focus on efficient data-driven modeling associated with the inverse problem and feature extraction. We show how the theories of 1-manifolds and F-transforms contribute to these delineated areas.

The manifold hypothesis states that the shape of observed data is relatively simple and that it lies on a low-dimensional manifold embedded in a higherdimensional space. We contribute to the problem of manifold learning. We show that a space whose topological structure is characterized by a fuzzy partition naturally leads to so called Riemannian spaces or Riemannian manifolds.

# Advances in forgery detection of driving licences using truthfulness degrees

## Manuel Ojeda-Aciego<sup>1</sup> and José Manuel Rodríguez-Jiménez<sup>1,2</sup>

Dept. Matemática Aplicada. Universidad de Málaga. Spain.

e-mail: aciego@uma.es

<sup>2</sup> Mijas Police Department. Spain.

**Abstract:** We develop a methodology which allows to detect forgeries in driving licences based on an analysis of two serial codes usually included in licences issued in European countries. Results from the initial analysis show the usefulness of the methodology, and that the best code for detection depends on the particularities of the licence in each issuing country.

Acknowledgement: The second author thanks ADOFOR group for its support in this research. Partially supported by projects PGC2018-095869-B-I00 and UMA2018-FEDERJA-001, and the COST Action CA17124 DigForASP (Digital Forensics: evidence Analysis via intelligent Systems and Practices).

- E. Armas Vega, E. González Fernández, A. L. Sandoval Orozco, and L. García-Villalba Passive image forgery detection based on the demosaicing algorithm and jpeg compression. *IEEE Access*, 8:11815–11823, 2020.
- M. Gariup and J. Piskorski. The challenge of detecting false documents at the border: Exploring the performance of humans, machines and their interaction. Int. J. Crit. Infrastructure Prot., 24:100-110, 2019.
- 3. H. Kasban and S. Nassar. An efficient approach for forgery detection in digital images using Hilbert-Huang transform. *Applied Soft Computing*, 97:106728, 2020.
- M. J. Khan, A. Yousaf, A. Abbas, and K. Khurshid. Deep learning for automated forgery detection in hyperspectral document images. J. Electronic Imaging, 27(5):053001, 2018.
- 5. M. Ojeda-Aciego and J. M. Rodriguez-Jimenez. Formal concept analysis with negative attributes for forgery detection. and Mathematical Methods, 2020. In press, doi:10.1002/cmm4.1124.
- J. M. Rodriguez-Jimenez and F. Arribas Moya. Métodos matemáticos para detectar la falsedad documental en pasaportes. *Ciencia Policial*, 164:7-22, 2021.
- S. Shang, N. D. Memon, and X. Kong. Detecting documents forged by printing and copying. EURASIP J. Adv. Signal Process, 2014:140, 2014.
- M. Sirajudeen and R. Anitha. Forgery document detection in information management system using cognitive techniques. J. Intelligent & Fuzzy Systems, 39(6):8057-8068, 2020.
- Y. Wei, Z. Wang, B. Xiao, X. Liu, Z. Yan, and J. Ma. Controlling neural learning network with multiple scales for image splicing forgery detection. ACM Trans. Multimedia Computing, Communications, and Applications, 16(4):124:1-124:22, 2021.

# A formal method for driver identification

## Roberto G. Aragón<sup>1</sup>, María Eugenia Cornejo<sup>1</sup>, Jesús Medina<sup>1</sup> and Clemente Rubio-Manzano<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics, University of Cádiz, Cádiz, Spain.

e-mail: {roberto.aragon,mariaeugenia.cornejo,jesus.medina,clemente.rubio}@uca.es <sup>2</sup> Department of Information Systems, University of the Bío-Bío, Concepción, Chile.

e-mail: clrubio@ubiobio.cl

**Abstract:** This paper presents a preliminary study of the application of formal concept analysis to automatic driver identification. Specifically, a methodology based on attribute implications has been considered and its main features have been studied. From a particular dataset, the proposed methodology focuses on driver recognition by analyzing the values of a subset of variables related to driving style.

Acknowledgement: Partially supported by the 2014–2020 ERDF Operational Programme in collaboration with the State Research Agency (AEI) in project PID2019-108991GB-I00, and with the Department of Economy, Knowledge, Business and University of the Regional Government of Andalusia in project FEDER-UCA18-108612, and by the European Cooperation in Science & Technology (COST) Action CA17124.

Furthermore, this work has been performed in collaboration with the research group SOMOS (SOftware-MOdelling-Science) funded by the University of Bío-Bío.

- L. Antoni, M. E. Cornejo, J. Medina, and E. Ramirez. Attribute classification and reduct computation in multi-adjoint concept lattices. *IEEE Transactions on Fuzzy* Systems, pages 1-1, 2020.
- 2. R. G. Aragón, J. Medina, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Identifying non-sublattice equivalence classes induced by an attribute reduction in fca. *Mathematics*, 9(5), 2021.
- 3. A. Bazin and J.-G. Ganascia. Computing the Duquenne-Guigues basis: an algorithm for choosing the order. International Journal of General Systems, 45(2):57-85, 2016.
- 4. R. Belohlavek and J. Konecny. A reduction theorem to compute fixpoints of fuzzy closure operators. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 369:132 144, 2019. Theme: Algebra.
- P. Cordero, M. Enciso, A. Mora, and V. Vychodil. Parameterized simplification logic I: reasoning with implications and classes of closure operators. *International Journal of General Systems*, 49(7):724-746, 2020.
- K. Dološ, C. Meyer, A. Attenberger, and J. Steinberger. Driver identification using in-vehicle digital data in the forensic context of a hit and run accident. *Forensic Science International: Digital Investigation*, 35:301090, 2020.
- D. Dubois, J. Medina, H. Prade, and E. Ramírez-Poussa. Disjunctive attribute dependencies in formal concept analysis under the epistemic view of formal contexts. *Information Sciences*, 561:31–51, 2021.

- 8. S. Ezzini, I. Berrada, and M. Ghogho. Who is behind the wheel? Driver identification and fingerprinting. *Journal of Big Data*, 5(1):1–15, 2018.
- 9. B. Ganter and R. Wille. Formal Concept Analysis: Mathematical Foundation. Springer Verlag, 1999.
- J.-L. Guigues and V. Duquenne. Familles minimales d'implications informatives résultant d'un tableau de données binaires. *Mathématiques et Sciences Humaines*, 95:5-18, 1986.
- B. I. Kwak, J. Woo, and H. K. Kim. Know your master: Driver profiling-based anti-theft method. In 2016 14th Annual Conference on Privacy, Security and Trust (PST), pages 211-218, 2016.
- 12. V. Liñeiro-Barea, J. Medina, and I. Medina-Bulo. Generating fuzzy attribute rules via fuzzy formal concept analysis. In L. T. Kóczy and J. Medina, editors, *Interactions Between Computational Intelligence and Mathematics*, Studies in Computational Intelligence, pages 105–119, Cham, 2018. Springer International Publishing.
- F. Martinelli, F. Mercaldo, A. Orlando, V. Nardone, A. Santone, and A. K. Sangaiah. Human behavior characterization for driving style recognition in vehicle system. *Computers & Electrical Engineering*, 83:102504, 2020.
- J. Medina. Relating attribute reduction in formal, object-oriented and propertyoriented concept lattices. Computers & Mathematics with Applications, 64(6):1992-2002, 2012.
- E. Rodríguez-Lorenzo, K. Adaricheva, P. Cordero, M. Enciso, and A. Mora. Formation of the d-basis from implicational systems using simplification logic. *Inter*national Journal of General Systems, 46(5):547-568, 2017.

# Analysis and identification of forensic events using non-parametric density estimation

## Piotr A. Kowalski<sup>1,2</sup>, Karol Kocierz<sup>1</sup> and Maciej Kusy<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Faculty of Physics and Applied Computer Science, AGH University of Science and Technology, al. A. Mickiewicza 30, 30-059 Cracow, Poland.

e-mail: pkowal@agh.edu.pl

<sup>2</sup> Systems Research Institute, Polish Academy of Sciences, ul. Newelska 6, 01-447 Warsaw, Poland.

e-mail: pakowal@ibspan.waw.pl

<sup>3</sup> Faculty of Electrical and Computer Engineering, Rzeszow University of Technology,

al. Powstancow Warszawy 12, 35-959 Rzeszow, Poland.

e-mail:mkusy@prz.edu.pl

**Abstract:** The goal of this article is to show how the non-parametric probability density estimation method can be used to visualize the occurrence of criminal events. For this purpose, an algorithm of kernel estimators using effective Epanechnikov function is applied. The purpose of this procedure is to reveal where criminal incidents occur most frequently. Data representing the location of crimes in the city of Baltimore, Maryland between 1963-2014 are selected for the investigation. After information processing, only the most relevant incidents are regarded, i.e.: aggravated assault, auto theft, burglary, common assault, larceny, larceny from auto and street robbery. It is shown, that based upon the algorithm used in this research, it is possible to visualize areas on the city map where the highest probability of a particular crime is determined.

**Keywords:** Digital forensic  $\cdot$  crime data  $\cdot$  assault identification  $\cdot$  kernel density estimation

Acknowledgement: This article is based upon work from COST Action 17124 DigForAsp, supported by COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology), www.cost.eu and is partially financed by Grant for Statutory Activity from Faculty of Physics and Applied Computer Science of the AGH University of Science and Technology and also by the Minister of Education and Science of the Republic of Poland within the Regional Initiative of Excellence program for years 2019-2022. Project number 027/RID/2018/19, amount granted 11 999 900 PLN.

- 1. AlJanabi, K.B.S., Haydar, K.: Crime Data Analysis Using Data Mining Techniques To Improve Crimes Prevention Procedures. ICIT (2010)
- Baltimore-DataSet: The Baltimore City Office of Information and Technology (BCIT), BPD Part 1 Victim Based Crime Data (12 2020), https://data.baltimorecity.gov/Public-Safety/BPD-Part-1-Victim-Based-Crime-Data/wsfq-mvij

- Е., 3. Bortoloti, F.D., deOliveira, Ciarelli, P.M.: Supervised kernel density estimation k-means. Expert Systems with Applications p. 114350(2020).https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eswa.2020.114350, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0957417420310344
- Kowalski, P.A., Kulczycki, P.: A complete algorithm for the reduction of pattern data in the classification of interval information. International Journal of Computational Methods 13(03), 1650018 (2016)
- 5. Kulczycki, P.: Applicational possibilities of nonparametric estimation of distribution density for control engineering. Bulletin of the Polish Academy of Sciences: Technical Sciences pp. 347–359 (2008)
- Kulczycki, P.: Kernel estimators in industrial applications. In: Soft Computing Applications in Industry, pp. 69–91. Springer (2008)
- Kusy, M., Zajdel, R.: Application of reinforcement learning algorithms for the adaptive computation of the smoothing parameter for probabilistic neural network. IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks and Learning Systems 26(9), 2163-2175 (2015)
- Tyagi, D., Sharma, S.: An Approach To Crime Data Analysis: a Systematic Review. International Journal of Engineering Technologies and Management Research 5(2), 67-74 (2018)
- Wang, S., Li, A., Wen, K., Wu, X.: Robust kernels for kernel density estimation. Economics Letters 191, 109138 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2020.109138, http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0165176520301105
- Wilcox, R.: More regression methods. In: Introduction to Robust Estimation and Hypothesis Testing (Third Edition), pp. 533–629. Statistical Modeling and Decision Science, Academic Press, Boston, third edition edn. (2012).

# Fuzzy signature based model in material handling management

## Balázs Ferenczi<sup>1</sup>, Ferenc Lilik<sup>1</sup> and László T. Kóczy<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> University of Győr, Hungary, H-9026 Győr, Hungary.

e-mail: feba78@gmail.com, lilikf@sze.hu, koczy@sze.hu

<sup>2</sup> Budapest University of Technology and Economics, H-1117 Budapest, Hungary.

**Abstract:** Scheduling and management of material handling in functional production system are among the biggest challenges of logistics. Among several methods, linear programming gives exact solution to these kinds of problems, however, linear programming is rigid and requires specially trained personnel to operate. Fuzzy logic based systems – besides they work similarly to human thinking – seems to be easily implementable in such problems. In this paper we present a fuzzy signature based approach constructed on expert knowledge. Its results are compared to the results of linear programming in the same situations.

**Keywords:** job shop scheduling  $\cdot$  material handling  $\cdot$  linear programming  $\cdot$  fuzzy signature

Acknowledgement: L.T.K. was supported by the National Research, Development and Innovation Office (Hungary) grant nr. K124055.

- Bowman, E. H., Production scheduling by the transportation method of linear programming, Operations Research, vol 4 No. 1, 1956, pp.100-103. https://doi.org/10.1287/opre.4.1.100
- Dantzig, G., Linear Programming and Extensions, Princeton: Princeton University Press, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1515/9781400884179
- Chaudhry, I. A., Khan, A. A., A research survey: review of flexible job shop scheduling techniques, International Transactions in Operational Research vol. 23 issue 3, 2016, pp. 551-591. https://doi.org/10.1111/itor.12199
- 4. Ferguson, R. O., Sargent, L. F., "Linear programming," Vol. 19. McGraw-Hill, 1958.
- Ioannou, G., and Kritikos, M. N., Optimization of material handling in production and warehousing facilities, Oper Res Int J 4, 317 (2004). pp. 317-331. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02944149
- Hao, Qi., Shen, W., Implementing a hybrid simulation model for a Kanban-based material handling system, Robotics and Computer-Integrated Manufacturing, Volume 24, Issue 5, 2008, pp.635-646, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rcim.2007.09.012.
- 7. Hanssmann, F., Hess, S. W., A linear programming approach to production and employment scheduling, Management science 1 (1960): 46-51. https://doi.org/10.1287/mantech.1.1.46
- Hencz, Cs. I., Harmati I. Á., Improving the Quality of Transport Management Services with Fuzzy Signatures, World Academy of Science, Engineering and TechnologyInternational Journal of Industrial and Manufacturing Engineering Vol:11, No:10, 2017, pp. 2361-2365,

- Kóczy, L. T., Vámos, T., Biró, G., "Fuzzy Signatures," Proc. of EUROFUSE-SIC '99, 1999, pp. 210-217.
- Mendis, B. S. U., Gedeon, T. D., Botzheim, J. and Koczy, L. T., "Generalised Weighted Relevance Aggregation Operators for Hierarchical Fuzzy Signatures," CIMCA'06, 2006, pp. 198-198, doi: 10.1109/CIMCA.2006.110.
- 11. Németh, P., Ladinig, T. B. and Ferenczi, B., "Use of Artificial Neural Networks in the Production Control of Small Batch Production," Proceedings on the International Conference on Artificial Intelligence (ICAI). The Steering Committee of The World Congress in Computer Science, Computer Engineering and Applied Computing (WorldComp), 2016.
- Nowaková, J., Prílepok, M. & Snášel, V., Medical Image Retrieval Using Vector Quantization and Fuzzy S-tree. J Med Syst 41, 18 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-016-0659-2
- Pezzella, F., Morganti, G., Ciaschetti, G., A genetic algorithm for the Flexible Jobshop Scheduling Problem, Computers & Operations Research, Volume 35, Issue 10, 2008, pp. 3202-3212, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cor.2007.02.014.
- Ramin, A. et al, "An approach to develop a dynamic job shop scheduling by fuzzy rule-based system and comparative study with the traditional priority rules," Am. J. Eng. Applied Sci 9 (2016): 202-212.
- Qiu, L., Hsu, W., Huang, S. & Wang, H., Scheduling and routing algorithms for AGVs: A survey, International Journal of Production Research, 40:3, 2002, pp. 745-760, DOI: 10.1080/00207540110091712
- Zandvakili, A., Mansouri, N. and Javidi, M. M., Signature GOA: A novel comfort zone parameteradjustment using fuzzy signature for task schedulingin cloud environment, Journal of Algorithms and Computation, vol. 53, issue 1, 2021, pp. 61-95. https://doi.org/10.22059/jac.2021.81539
- Zhang, J., Ding, G., Zou, Y. et al, "Review of job shop scheduling research and its new perspectives under Industry 4.0," Journal of Intelligent Manufacturing, vol. 30, 2019, pp. 1809–1830, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10845-017-1350-2

# On Choquet integral in ranking crimes

## María Eugenia Cornejo<sup>1</sup>, Jesús Medina<sup>1</sup>, Ivana Štajner-Papuga<sup>2</sup> and Andreja Tepavčević<sup>2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Mathematics, University of Cádiz, Cádiz, Spain.

e-mail: {mariaeugenia.cornejo, jesus.medina}@uca.es

<sup>2</sup> Department of Mathematics and Informatics, Faculty of Sciences, University of Novi Sad, Serbia.

e-mail: {ivana.stajner-papuga,andreja}@dmi.uns.ac.rs

<sup>3</sup> Mathematical Institute SANU, Belgrade, Serbia.

**Abstract:** This paper is devoted to show the applicability of the Choquet integral in classification or ranking problems. Specifically, a methodology for the automatic prioritization of suspicious data or rank different data, which is based on integral aggregation operators with a fuzzy measure in its core, is presented. The proposed approach is illustrated by an experimental example of forensics data.

Keywords: Aggregation operator · Fuzzy measure · Choquet integral

Acknowledgement: Partially supported by the 2014–2020 ERDF Operational Programme in collaboration with the State Research Agency (AEI) in project PID2019-108991GB-I00, and with the Department of Economy, Knowledge, Business and University of the Regional Government of Andalusia in project FEDER-UCA18-108612, by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia (Grant No. 451-03-68/2020-14/200125) and by the European Cooperation in Science & Technology (COST) Action CA17124.

- Benvenuti, P., Mesiar, R., Vivina, D.: Monotone set functions-based integrals. In: Pap, E. (ed) Handbook of Measure Theory, pp. 1329-1379, Elsevier, Amsterdam (2002)
- 2. Choquet, G.: Theory of capacities. Annales de l'Institut Fourier 5, 131–295 (1953)
- Grabisch, M., Marichal, J., Mesiar, R., Pap, E.: Aggregations Functions. Cambridge University Press (2009)
- M. Grabisch, H.T. Nguyen, and E.A. Walker, Fundamentals of Uncertainty Calculi with Applications to Fuzzy Inference, Kluwer Academics Publishers, Dordrecht, 1995.
- Takači, A., Štajner-Papuga, I., Drakulić, D., Marić, M.: An Extension of Maximal Covering Location Problem based on the Choquet Integral. Acta Polytechnica Hungarica 13(4), 205-220 (2016)
- Sugeno, M.: Theory of fuzzy integrals and its application. Doctoral thesis. Tokyo Institute of Technology (1974)
- 7. Wang, Z., Klir, G.J.: Generalized Measure Theory. Springer (2000)
- 8. Zadeh, L. A.: Fuzzy sets. Information and Control 8, 338–353 (1965)

# The Effects of Knowledge Extraction Approaches on Cryptanalysis Studies and Analysis of the Success of Chaos-Based Countermeasures

## Yücel Bürhan<sup>1</sup> and Fatih Özkaynak<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Munzur University, Tunceli 62100, Turkey.

<sup>2</sup> Firat University, 23119 Elazig, Turkey. e-mail: ozkaynak@firat.edu.tr

**Abstract:** Although each new approach and scientific progress provides many advantages and innovations from theory to practice, its disadvantages should be evaluated comprehensively from different perspectives. In this study, the effects of knowledge extraction approaches on the cryptanalysis process have beenevaluated. It is known that the secret key of the encryption algorithm can be obtained by using knowledge extraction approaches, especially with application- oriented attacks such as side channel analysis. It is known that chaotic masks can be used as a countermeasure to prevent the success of these attacks. In this study, side-channel analyzes of the chaos-based substitution box structures that have been proposed in recent years have been carried out. The side channel analysis results of the existing studies in the literature have been carried out for the first time in this study. The results obtained showed that the approaches in the field of knowledge extraction should be handled more comprehensively in the cryptanalysis processes, and also pointed out that a new evaluation criterion should be analyzed for future studies for chaos-based design studies.

**Keywords:** Knowledge Extraction  $\cdot$  Cryptanalysis  $\cdot$  Chaotic Mask  $\cdot$  Substitution Box

Acknowledgement: This article is based upon work from COST Action CA17124, supported by COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology) and the The Scientific and Technological Research Council of Turkey (TUBITAK) under Grant 120E444.

- Mohasseb, A., Aziz, B., Jung, J. et al. Cyber security incidents analysis and classification in a case study of Korean enterprises. Knowl Inf Syst 62, 2917–2935 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10115-020-01452-5
- Pérez, B., Rubio, J. & Sáenz-Adán, C. A systematic review of provenance systems. Knowl Inf Syst 57, 495-543 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10115-018-1164-3
- Ahmed, M. Data summarization: a survey. Knowl Inf Syst 58, 249-273 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10115-018-1183-0
- 4. Özkaynak F (2017) From biometric data to cryptographic primitives: a new method for generation of substitution boxes. In: ACM international conference on biomedical engineering and bioinformatics, September 14-16, 2017, Bangkok, Thailand. ISBN: 978-1-4503-5297-0. https://doi.org/10.1145/3143344.3143355

- Rao, T.R., Mitra, P., Bhatt, R. et al. The big data system, components, tools, and technologies: a survey. Knowl Inf Syst 60, 1165-1245 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10115-018-1248-0
- Shannon, C. (1949). "Communication Theory of Secrecy Systems". Bell System Technical Journal. 28 (4): 662. doi:10.1002/j.1538-7305.1949.tb00928.x.
- Lerman, L., Poussier, R., Markowitch, O. et al. Template attacks versus machine learning revisited and the curse of dimensionality in side-channel analysis: extended version. J Cryptogr Eng 8, 301-313 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13389-017-0162-9
- Hettwer, B., Gehrer, S. & Güneysu, T. Applications of machine learning techniques in side-channel attacks: a survey. J Cryptogr Eng 10, 135-162 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13389-019-00212-8
- 9. Daemen J, Rijmen V (1998) AES proposal: Rijndael. In: First advanced encryption conference, California.
- Ge, Q., Yarom, Y., Cock, D. et al. A survey of microarchitectural timing attacks and countermeasures on contemporary hardware. J Cryptogr Eng 8, 1–27 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13389-016-0141-6
- Wei, M., Sun, S., Wei, Z. et al. A small first-order DPA resistant AES implementation with no fresh randomness. Sci. China Inf. Sci. 65, 169102 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11432-019-1469-7
- Özkaynak, F, Özer, A B, Yavuz, S (2012). Cryptanalysis of Bigdeli algorithm using Çokal and Solak attack, International Journal of Information Security Science 1(3): 79-81.
- Strogatz S, (2015) Nonlinear Dynamics And Chaos: With Applications To Physics Biology Chemistry And Engineering, Boulder, CO, USA:Westview.
- 14. Kocarev L, Lian S (2011) Chaos based cryptography theory algorithms and applications. Springer, Berlin.
- Açikkapi, MŞ. Özkaynak, F., (2021) A Method to Determine the Most Suitable Initial Conditions of Chaotic Map in Statistical Randomness Applications, in IEEE Access, vol. 9, pp. 1482-1494, 2021, doi: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3046470.
- 16. Zhang H, Liu D, Wang Z (2009) Controlling chaos: suppression, synchronization and chaotification. Springer, London
- 17. Muhammad ZMZ, Özkaynak F (2020) An image encryption algorithm based on chaotic selection of robust cryptographic primitives. IEEE Access 8:56581-56589
- Kumar, C.M., Vidhya, R. & Brindha, M. An efficient chaos based image encryption algorithm using enhanced thorp shuffle and chaotic convolution function. Appl Intell (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10489-021-02508-x
- 19. Özkaynak F (2019) Chaos based substitution boxes as a cryptographic primitives: challenges and opportunities, chaotic modeling and simulation. CMSIM 1:49-57
- 20. Boss, E., Grosso, V., Güneysu, T. et al. Strong 8-bit Sboxes with efficient masking in hardware extended version. J Cryptogr Eng 7, 149-165 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13389-017-0156-7
- 21. Cusick T, Stanica P (2009) Cryptographic boolean functions and applications. Elsevier, Amsterdam
- 22. Picek S, Batina L, Jakobovi D, Ege B, Golub M (2014) S-box, SET, match: a toolbox for S-box analysis. In: Naccache D, Sauveron D (eds) Information security theory and practice. Securing the internet of things. WISTP 2014. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, vol 8501. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 140-149. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-43826-8 10

- Özkaynak, F. An Analysis and Generation Toolbox for Chaotic Substitution Boxes: A Case Study Based on Chaotic Labyrinth Rene Thomas System. Iran J Sci Technol Trans Electr Eng 44, 89–98 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40998-019-00230-6
- 24. Wang Y, Wong K, Li C, Li Y (2012) A novel method to design S-box based on chaotic map and genetic algorithm. Phys Lett A 376(6-7):827-833
- Khan M, Shah T, Mahmood H, Gondal M, Hussain I (2012) A novel technique for the construction of strong S-boxes based on chaotic Lorenz systems. Nonlinear Dyn 70(3):2303-2311
- Hussain I, Shah T, Mahmood H, Gondal M (2012) Construction of S8 Liu J S-boxes and their applications. Comput Math Appl 64(8):2450–2458
- 27. Hussain I, Shah T, Gondal M (2012) A novel approach for designing substitutionboxes based on nonlinear chaotic algorithm. Nonlinear Dyn 70(3):1791–1794
- Khan M, Shah T, Mahmood H, Gondal M (2013) An efficient method for the construction of block cipher with multi-chaotic systems. Nonlinear Dyn 71(3):489–492
- Özkaynak F, Yavuz S (2013) Designing chaotic S-boxes based on time-delay chaotic sys- tem. Nonlinear Dyn 74(3):551–557
- Khan M, Shah T, Gondal M (2013) An efficient technique for the construction of substitu- tion box with chaotic partial differential equation. Nonlinear Dyn 73(3):1795-1801
- Hussain I, Shah T, Mahmood H, Gondal M (2013) A projective general linear group based algorithm for the construction of substitution box for block ciphers. Neural Comput Appl 22(6):1085-1093
- 32. Hussain I, Shah T, Gondal M, Khan W, Mahmood H (2013) A group theoretic approach to construct cryptographically strong substitution boxes. Neural Comput Appl 23(1):97-104
- 33. Hussain I, Shah T, Gondal M, Mahmood H (2013) An efficient approach for the construction of LFT S-boxes using chaotic logistic map. Nonlinear Dyn 71(1):133-140
- Hussain I, Shah T, Gondal M (2013) Efficient method for designing chaotic Sboxes based on generalized Baker's map and TDERC chaotic sequence. Nonlinear Dyn 74(1):271-275
- Hussain I, Shah T, Gondal M, Mahmood H (2013) A novel method for designing nonlinear component for block cipher based on TD-ERCS chaotic sequence. Nonlinear Dyn 73(1):633-637
- Khan M, Shah T (2014) A construction of novel chaos base nonlinear component of block cipher. Nonlinear Dyn 76(1):377–382
- 37. Khan M, Shah T (2014) A novel image encryption technique based on Hénon chaotic map and S8 symmetric group. Neural Comput Appl 25(7-8):1717-1722
- Lambić D (2014) A novel method of S-box design based on chaotic map and composition method. Chaos Solitons Fractals 58:16-21
- Liu H, Kadir A, Niu Y (2014) Chaos-based color image block encryption scheme using S- box. AEU Int J Electron Commun 68(7):676–686
- Zhang X, Zhao Z, Wang J (2014) Chaotic image encryption based on circular substitution box and key stream buffer. Sig Process Image Commun 29(8):902-913
- 41. Liu G, Yang W, Liu W, Dai Y (2015) Designing S-boxes based on 3-D four-wing autonomous chaotic system. Nonlinear Dyn 82(4):1867–1877
- 42. Ahmad M, Bhatia D, Hassan Y (2015) A novel ant colony optimization based scheme for substitution box design. Proc Comput Sci 57:572-580
- Khan M (2015) A novel image encryption scheme based on multiple chaotic Sboxes. Nonlinear Dyn 82(1):527-533
- 44. Khan M, Shah T (2015) An efficient construction of substitution box with fractional chaotic system. SIViP 9(6):1335-1338

- 45. Jamal S, Khan M, Shah T (2016) A watermarking technique with chaotic fractional S-box transformation. Wirel Pers Commun 90(4):2033-2049
- 46. Khan M, Shah T, Batool S (2016) Construction of S-box based on chaotic Boolean functions and its application in image encryption. Neural Comput Appl 27(3):677-685
- 47. Khan M, Shah T, Batool S (2016) A new implementation of chaotic S-boxes in CAPTCHA. SIViP 10(2):293-300
- 48. Khan M, Asghar Z (2016) A novel construction of substitution box for image encryption applications with Gingerbreadman chaotic map and S8 permutation. Neural Comput Appl. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00521-016-2511-5
- Lambić D (2017) A novel method of S-box design based on discrete chaotic map. Nonlinear Dyn 87(4):2407–2413
- 50. Farah T, Rhouma R, Belghith S (2017) A novel method for designing S-box based on chaotic map and teaching-learning-based optimization. Nonlinear Dyn 88(2):1059-1074
- Belazi A, Latif A (2017) A simple yet efficient S-box method based on chaotic sine map. Opt Int J Light Electron Opt 130:1438-1444
- 52. Belazi A, Latif A, Diaconu A, Rhouma R, Belghith S (2017) Chaos-based partial image encryption scheme based on linear fractional and lifting wavelet transforms. Opt Lasers Eng 88:37–50
- Belazi A, Khan M, Latif A, Belghith S (2017) Efficient cryptosystem approaches: S-boxes and permutation-substitution-based encryption. Nonlinear Dyn 87(1):337-361
- 54. Islam F, Liu G (2017) Designing S-box based on 4D-4Wing hyperchaotic system. 3D Res  $8{:}9$